MUSIC THERAPY, TRUST AND CHILD WELFARE

In a Norwegian context

Magnus Jørgensen Mannes



Master Thesis

The Grieg Academy – Department of Music

University of Bergen

Autumn 2017

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3 -
ABSTRACT	4 -
1.0 - INTRODUCTION	5 -
1.1 PURPOSE	5 -
1.2 BACKGROUND	5 -
1.3 NORWEGIAN CONTEXT OF MUSIC THERAPY	6 -
1.4 МЕТНОО	9 -
2.0 - MUSIC THERAPY WITH ADOLESCENTS	12 -
2.1 MUSIC THERAPY AND TRUST	12 -
2.2 MUSIC THERAPY IN NORWEGIAN CHILD WELFARE	15 -
3.0 - DEFINING TRUST	22 -
3.1 THE OBJECTIVE STRUCTURE OF TRUST	22 -
3.2 THE SUBJECTIVE EXPERIENCE OF TRUST	25 -
3.3 SYSTEM TRUST AND INSTITUTIONAL TRUST	33 -
3.4 OBJECTIVE STRUCTURE TO SUBJECTIVE EXPERIENCE	34 -
3.4.1 Psychological development – learning theories	34 -
3.4.2 Sociological perspectives – functions of trust	38 -
3.4.3 Economics of trust – rational choice theory	41 -
3.5 Interpersonal trust - an integrative framework	42 -
3.5.1 Adaptive rationality	43 -
3.5.2 Model of Frame Selection	49 -
3.5.3 Definition - trust and adaptive rationality	54 -
4.0 DISCUSSION	56 -
4.1 THE ADOLESCENT'S DEFINITION OF THE SITUATION	56 -
4.2 MUSIC THERAPY AND ROLES	57 -
4.3 MUSICAL ACTIVITIES, OBJECTS AND TRUST	58 -
4.4 TRUST IN REDEFINING POWER STRUCTURES	60 -
4.5 IMPLICATIONS OF UNDERSTANDING TRUST	61 -
5.0 CONCLUSION	63 -
REFERENCES	65 -

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Lasse, for all the help, inspiration, understanding, patience and support he has provided in the writing of this thesis. You have been an amazing teacher throughout my years studying music therapy, and I will always value our guitar lessons and reflecting about the importance and possibilities of music therapy in helping people.

Thank you to my family, and especially my parents, for their invaluable support and encouragement, and for believing in me through a very demanding writing process. I couldn't have done this without you.

Thank you, my friends, for always being there.

Thank you, my fellow music therapy students – you have filled my years studying music therapy with a vast amount of treasured memories.

Thank you, Sigur Rós, for providing music that helped me get through the writing process.

A special thanks to Alexander, who has been an amazing conversation partner in discussing music therapy throughout the years of my music therapy education, a fantastic musician to play with and music therapist to work with, and most importantly a great friend.

Abstract

This thesis theoretically explores the concept of trust in music therapy with adolescents in a Norwegian child welfare context. By reviewing literature describing the Norwegian music therapy practice in child welfare and music therapy with adolescents in general, exploring different perspectives on trust and relating these to an interdisciplinary framework of trust, suggestions are made concerning how trust is built in the music therapy context.

Music therapy can be used as a different setting in which the adolescents can create knowledge structures containing experiences of trust associated with adults and peers related to child welfare. The supportive nature of musical objects and the multifaceted role of the music therapist can enable new ways of relating which open up for trust. By listening to the adolescent's voice and emphasizing their participation in determining the institutional structures of the music therapy sessions, they can use shared goals and values as a resource that enables trust. Repeated collaborative interaction in music therapy can build trust relations that move towards affect- and identification-based trust. People from the adolescent's network can be invited to participate in the music therapy, giving opportunities to re-negotiate poor trust relations and challenge relational power structures.

1.0 - INTRODUCTION

How is trust built in music therapy with adolescents in a child welfare context? Many children and adolescents placed in child welfare have experienced some form of neglect and have difficult emotions and feelings attached to this (Kayed et al., 2015), and some have experienced traumatic events which leave them at risk of developing traumatized reactions (Webb, 2005). It seems that positive experiences of trust may not have been the most prominent during the early years of these young individuals' lives, and it might be understandable that some have difficulties trusting as they continue their lives. But, what is "trust?" Is it something we can give, take, create and destroy? Is it something inherently individual, something we adopt, create and share socially and through culture? What is the relevance of trust in music therapy? The aim of this thesis is to elucidate and explore these points, and explore the role of trust with respect to music therapy in child welfare, as well as the value a deeper understanding of this has.

1.1 Purpose

The purpose of my master thesis is to explore the role of an interdisciplinary understanding of trust in relation to a sociocultural, culture-centered and community-oriented approach to music therapy within a Norwegian child welfare context. By reviewing select literature on music therapy in child welfare as well as on trust in music therapy with adolescents, how trust is built and the possible influence it has in music therapy in the context will be considered. I will then describe the main components of trust and elaborate on an integrative theoretical framework of trust that includes the notion of adaptive rationality. The ideas described will be used to explore the role of trust in music therapy in child welfare. Finally, the implications a deeper understanding of trust might have for music therapy with adolescents will be considered. Research questions will be presented in section 1.4.

1.2 Background

In accordance with what Wenger (1998) has written about social communities, my understanding is that we, throughout our lives, learn, find meaning and develop our identities in relation to the social and natural world we navigate and participate in, which in turn shapes how we interpret and act in the world. We are not "isolated individuals", but are deeply interconnected with other individuals, groups, institutions and larger social systems, which we both influence and are influenced by. Interactions with others allow us to both shape the

situations we interact in and develop ourselves based on the experiences. This of course, involves trust as well, as I argue that trust is an essential component of relationships and fundamental to interpersonal interaction.

In Norwegian literature on music therapy and child welfare, a lot of focus recently has been aimed at the notion of participation (see for example Stige, 2005; Strandbu, 2011; Krüger & Stige, 2013, 2015; Stensæth, Krüger & Fuglestad, 2016). For example, Krüger, Strandbu & Stige (2014) found participation in music therapy to be helpful in becoming part of a community, as well as helping the child transition from child welfare institutions into participation in society. Personally, I have had the opportunity to work in a music therapy setting with adolescents in child welfare over the past three years, and developed an appreciation for participation in music therapy and how it can be valuable. However, one thing I started contemplating a while back is how trust plays into such participation, and in music therapy in general. One of my initial thoughts was whether it is different to trust someone "through music" compared to verbally. Are there some properties within music therapy activities that allow for trust to be developed differently, and if so what implications can this have in situations outside the music therapy? While there are mentions of trust in the literature regarding music therapy and adolescents / child welfare, it seems to be usually only mentioned in passing or dealt with implicitly, its role is not actually expanded upon very much. A common statement is that music therapy and the relations that develop within can be used to "build trust", and that once trust has been established, many opportunities arise. But how does this build-up happen, and why? Scwhartz (2008) understands trust as the fundamental way very young children create meaning out of awareness, and explains that repeated experiences are necessary in which perceptual input is connected to responses from the child and finally mapped out as a way to structure the world. But how can we understand trust with older children and teenagers, such as in initial interactions in music therapy sessions? It seems reasonable that some degree of trust is necessary in order to allow for participation at all, and that trust must come from somewhere. In order to understand this, I use a broad, interdisciplinary theoretical framework of trust in an attempt to illuminate the role trust plays with respect to music therapy with adolescents in child welfare.

1.3 Norwegian context of music therapy

The Norwegian context of music therapy is commonly considered to have been founded by Even Ruud, who among other things helped establish the first music therapy education in Norway in 1978, theoretically developed a *humanistic perspective* of music therapy (Ruud,

2010), and critically inquired about the values and epistemological and ontological elements of music therapy (Ruud, 1998). He was considerate of the relationship and interplay between individual and community with respect to both health and the goals of music therapy. Stige (2002) described a *culture-centred perspective* on music therapy, which involves an interest and exploration in how individuals and communities are dependent upon and interact with each other, as well as the importance of culture as a resource for action. From this perspective, human interdependence is understood as a basis for autonomy, where participation in social communities such as society leads to the development of individuals' different capacities. Rolvsjord (2010), with a similar critical approach as Ruud and Stige, developed resourceoriented music therapy, which is highly collaborative and focuses on user-involvement. This perspective emphasises client strength and resources rather than being overly focused on curing a pathology and the reduction of symptoms, and is linked to other theoretical fields such as positive psychology, the philosophy of empowerment and salutogenesis (Rolvsjord, 2016). A third perspective that incorporates the thoughts and ideas described above, is the broad perspective of *community music therapy* (Ansdell & Stige, 2016). Ansdell and Stige (ibid.) characterize community music therapy as a movement rather than a model or approach, emphasizing social and community dimensions. Rather than just "adding community" to music therapy, the movement aims to rethink music therapy in terms ecological and sociocultural ideas, attempting to reconnect the individual music therapy with broader social and musical opportunities (ibid.).

Generally, in Norway music therapy in child welfare has been relatively scarce (Krüger & Stige, 2013), although it is growing. Krüger describes the practice describes the practice in Bergen, Norway, stating that the sessions usually occur on a weekly basis, both in individual and group formats (ibid.). Activities emphasize resources and opportunities for participation, in line with the perspectives described above. Through participation in musical activities, the adolescents are supported through learning to play instruments, meet peers and have opportunities to be in dialogue with adults. Music therapy can also involve participating in the performance of concerts or shows, where they can convey music or lyrics to an audience. This creates opportunities for identity development, new social experiences and new possible courses of action. The music also allows for a bridge to be built between their specific child welfare environment and the local society surrounding it, for example through a performance. The adolescents can receive guidance on how to use and participate in public cultural programs outside of the child welfare system, and musical activities can thus be related to school, recreational activities and every-day life. Skills and abilities that the adolescents have learned

in the music therapy context, can potentially be applied to new situations - one might wonder then, if the same type of transferability is true with *experiences of trust* in music therapy. Further, workers at the teenagers' child welfare institutions can be invited to participate at music therapy workshops with the adolescents as well, giving teenagers opportunities for positive experiences with adults. This new way of relating to one another might provide opportunities to develop new *relational schema*, where trust can be built through a new musical framing of the situation in which new courses of action are possible (schemata will be explained further in section 3.2). If the relationships between adolescent-adult in the institutions is strained, posing a challenge to trust and communication, music therapy can potentially provide fresh arenas for the adolescents and adults to develop healthier relationships and trust towards one another.

A human rights perspective is relevant to the practice of music therapy with children and adolescents (Curtis & Vaillancourt, 2012). The Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) has been ratified in Norway, which involves an obligation to uphold the rights and values the convention is built upon (Krüger, Bolstad & Stige, 2016). In terms of participation, article 9 recognize the child's right to participate and let their voices be heard in decisions regarding them and their parents, while article 31 describes their right to opportunities where they can freely participate in cultural life and arts, where the state has an obligation to encourage the provision of such opportunities (United Nations, 2009). Article 3 of the CRC places a primary emphasis on considering "the best interests of the child" in all actions concerning children (ibid.). This is a somewhat vague concept, but I argue that it is essential that the child's own voice is of vital importance in determining what these best interests are. I claim that in order for the child's voice to be heard, trust is fundamental. As adults working with children, we need to trust that they can make choices and decisions in their own lives, and that they possess an indispensable source of knowledge in terms of their own needs. However, children also need to be able to trust the adults around them, so that they feel safe and secure in actually voicing their thoughts, feelings and interests. This involves balancing out the power structure between children, adults and the systems around them, so that they do not become controlled passive actors, but active participants in their lives with strengths and resources they can utilize. I argue that music therapy can provide an arena where such a focus can be placed, and trust can be built. Similarly, Follesø (2006) posits that it is insufficient to simply amass general and theoretically informed knowledge regarding children, but that youths have to be asked about their experiences and thoughts, and that their competencies and experiences need to be trusted. Krüger and Stige (2015) state that there is a need to produce more research that can help professionals develop strategies which can structure and facilitate capacities related to listening to each individual child in order to let their voices be heard. My hope is that this thesis on trust and music therapy in child welfare can be a contribution towards this.

1.4 Method

This thesis is theoretical, using a literature-based investigation similar to what Stige (2006) used when exploring the notion of participation. As Stige notes, the approach relates to both what Bruscia (2005) described as "integration," which is an integrative approach to theory building which is based on several existing theories, and philosophical inquiry described by Aigen (2005). According to Aigen, philosophical inquiry involves four procedures. These are (1) clarifying terms, (2) exposing and evaluating underlying assumptions, (3) relating ideas as systematic theory, and (4) using arguments as primary means of inquiry. In chapter 2, music therapy with adolescents and child welfare will be investigated, in order to uncover assumptions about trust. In chapter 3, trust as an interdisciplinary concept will be investigated, first exploring different types of trust from a psychological, sociological and economic perspective. These ideas will then be bridged together using the notion of adaptive rationality in a broad integrative theoretical framework developed by Rompf (2014). The different literature and ideas will be compared and related to each other, in order to deepen my understanding of the role trust has with respect to music therapy in child welfare. As this aims to explore the Norwegian context of music therapy in child welfare, the literature I use will predominantly be concerning the Norwegian context. Regardless, the literature I use is the main data of this thesis, and the main method is the critical reflection around and comparison of the literature.

When doing research, it is important (many argue necessary) for the researcher to describe their epistemological perspective (Murphy & Wheeler, 2016). This concerns what assumptions and understanding one has about knowledge, a "theory of knowledge." Each epistemology is based on its own set of assumptions with respect to the nature of the relationship between the researcher and the research subject(s) (ibid.). The theoretical perspectives, methodology and methods of research studies reflect these assumptions. In research, by sharing one's epistemological perspective explicitly, it allows the reader to understand findings more deeply, and be more informed if critically challenging the findings and the processes involved in getting to them. With this in mind, the three philosophical orientations of social constructionism, critical theory and hermeneutics will be put forward that help inform my understanding.

Social constructionism is similar to the perspective of constructivism, which understands meaningful human reality as constructed by individuals through both their interpretations and interactions with other individuals and the world (Alvesson & Sköldberg,

2009). A principle difference is that social constructionism considers interpretations and meaningful reality not as something purely produced through an individual mind, but as intersubjectively co-constructed by individuals with a shared sociohistorical language and context (Crotty, 1998; Murphy & Wheeler, 2016). The subjective and transactional elements of interpersonal relations allow meaning and reality to manifest. From this perspective, "interaction" is a fundamental element in understanding both social and natural phenomena. People interact dialogically through language, and both communicate and transact meanings (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2009). The "self" is considered socially constructed, and both emerges in and is shaped by social interactions and relationships with others. The importance of culture is emphasized, because it molds us and influences the way we interpret and feel (Crotty, 1998), which affects how we interact and leads to us to "communicate culture" with others. This relates to the concept of socialization (Berger & Luckmann, 1966), which is the process of internalizing socially shared knowledge (i.e, culture), such as social norms and values, as well as individual identity development. As such, constructivist epistemologies are useful for exploring meanings and meaning-making processes (Murphy & Wheeler, 2016), I believe they are relevant for the topic of trust.

Critical theory, sometimes referred to as critical hermeneutics, is characterized as an interpretive approach, and also has a focus on critically disputing concrete social realities (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2009). It goes against assumptions that the conditions in society are inevitable and natural, and instead postulates that asymmetries of power and special interests strongly influence historically created societal conditions, and that it is possible to bring radical change to these conditions (ibid., p. 144). A dialectic view of society is maintained, and any social phenomenon must always be considered with respect to its historical context. In relation to child welfare, I find this an important perspective as the power structures between children and adults can sometimes be very asymmetric, which can lead to children not being able to voice their needs, thoughts and feelings. There is also a "risk" that workers within the child welfare system unnecessarily assume an "expert role", where they have a disproportionate amount of power compared to the adolescents they interact with. Additionally, there is a conceivable risk that adults may hold more power in choosing when to end a relationship, and that the adolescents are passively sent around through the child welfare system according to the needs of the system and the adults' themselves.

Scwhandt (2001) describes hermeneutics as the "art, theory and philosophy of interpreting the meaning of an object" (p. 155). In research, the hermeneutic epistemology is related to what Heidegger (1927/1996) called *hermeneutic phenomenology* and the

philosophical hermeneutics of Gadamer (1976/2008). According to Heidegger and Gadamer, individuals are always situated in both a specific and historic context, which influence how we perceive, understand and experience the world (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2009). The interpretive nature of the research process has to be acknowledged when trying to describe structures and important phenomena in human experience, as the researcher will inevitably be informed by their own preconceptions, prejudices and worldview (ibid.). In other words, the subjectivity of the researcher will influence how phenomena are understood in the research process.

With this in mind, these are the research questions for the thesis:

- 1. How has trust been understood in music therapy with adolescents?
- **2.** How can trust as a mental phenomenon broadly be understood?
- **3.** How can interpersonal trust be built in music therapy in Norwegian child welfare?

2.0 - MUSIC THERAPY WITH ADOLESCENTS

In this chapter, I will begin with presenting a few pieces of literature that mention and generally deal with trust in music therapy. I will make initial notes of what seems to be important to the build-up of trust, and consider the rationale behind emphasizing trust in work with adolescents. Subsequently, I will present literature that focuses on music therapy specifically in a Norwegian child welfare context, again making some initial assumptions concerning the role of trust as I understand it in the literature and exploring a few different approaches to music therapy work in a Norwegian child welfare context, such as individual and group sessions.

2.1 Music Therapy and Trust

McFerran (2010) highlights the importance of trust with respect to different aspects of music therapy. She explains that during an initial meeting with the music therapist, teenagers have a need to determine whether the therapist is trustworthy, and so tend to "hold back" and mask themselves until proof is provided. McFerran argues that the only way the music therapist can meet this demand without any prior interaction history, is to offer a "clear sense of purpose, and a willingness to get things done." (2010, p. 51). In order to do this, she argues, the music therapist needs to offer a "real" presentation of their self that is consistent and authentic.

McFerran (ibid.) suggests that music therapists have "three primary ways of being with the adolescent client", associated with different theoretical orientations. These are to "stay calm" (psychodynamic orientation), "go with it" (humanistic orientation) and "stay one step ahead" (behavioural orientation). Again, the important point is to be authentic and consistent, and as long as the music therapist is clear and respectful of the adolescent, it doesn't matter which stance is adopted. Importantly, she notes that if the music therapist is consistent, but flexible, *trust* will build more quickly. A hypothesis that can be gleamed is that being consistent and clear leads to a greater sense of predictability, which might indicate trustworthiness.

McFerran (ibid.) describes the use of songs in music therapy, and explains that they can represent deeply personal aspects of the teenager. She argues that through the use of songs, adolescents might share information and feelings they haven't shared elsewhere, "masked" or contextualized by the music in order to make their communication tolerable. If this sharing of *personal aspects* is consciously intentional on the part of the teenager, this might be a way for them to "test the waters" for trustworthiness, informed by the music therapists' response. If the adolescent is not fully aware that they have shared a vulnerable part of themselves through the song, then it seems important that the music therapist acknowledges this and sensitively

supports them in order to avoid violating the trusting act the adolescent has offered, even if it was done without conscious intent. McFerran explains that through offering to truly listen to and accept the music of the adolescent, trust can be established and defensive barriers reduced.

McFerran posits that teenagers very quickly make a judgment of whether they trust an available adult, and so adults should feel able to ask directive questions. She explains that adolescents should be trusted to make decisions and refuse to discuss a topic if they feel uncomfortable, though keeping in mind that persistent questioning in response to resistance can lead to a negative relational outcome (ibid.). In other words, adolescents should be trusted to have control over their own choices, and the music therapist shouldn't be scared of being (sensitively) direct and honest. This can be related to Epstein (2007) and his thoughts concerning child-parent relationships, who argues that children should be offered more trust as they develop their identity on their path to becoming an adult, and that the emotional connection between child and caregivers can suffer a fundamental breakdown if the child's ability to make decisions in their own lives aren't acknowledged. He argues that the adolescent-parent bond should be strong and accepting rather than controlling. Exerting such control on their lives can be understood as a *distrust* towards the teenagers, where they are not entrusted to make choices in their own lives. This seems to indicate that a notion of *power* is relevant to building trust and developing relationships, also in the context of music therapy.

Though not specifically geared towards adolescents, Kenny (1989), focusing on musical improvisation with clients, claims that the "merging of the therapist's and the client's aesthetic fields in the musical space results in trust" (p. 74). She explains that this establishes the "field of play", a relational space consisting of musical experimentation, imitation, communication and modelling, as experienced through musical improvisation. It seems then that shared musical experiences can be used to frame an interaction in such a way that trust can be built through a dialogue of one's musical identities.

When working with adolescents with severe disorders related to affect and contact regulation, which can be relevant in the context of child welfare, using a particular musical object can be valuable in managing to build a therapeutic relationship (Smetana, 2017). Smetana analysed three cases in order to understand how music can be used in a therapeutic dyad as a "third element". The findings indicate that the key factors are that there are typical characteristics inherent in the musical objects, that they can contain a variety of meaning and that they are important to the adolescent. They provide a sense of security, and can function as a foundation that development of exploration, contact regulation, mentalization and symbolization can build upon. In fact, the musical objects can become the foundation for the

music therapy sessions themselves (ibid.). This can be related to Ruud's (2013) study of how people use music in their everyday life to improve their health and well-being. One of the findings were that music can potentially function as a safe and positive "self object", and is something that the individual can trust and interact with that supplies the strength to work through challenges. These two studies seem to indicate that the musical objects can provide something safe and consistent to hold on to, and that they can help an individual deal with challenging situations, such as going to therapy or tolerating social interactions.

From a community music therapy perspective, Stige and Aarø (2012) found that music is useful providing adolescents with individual and social support, and facilitating the voice of the child (see also Krüger, 2012). Music (understood in a broad sense) can be used as a flexible and multifaceted resource in order to facilitate various forms of participation. Participation is here understood as more than simply "the action of taking part in something." Stige (2006) presented the following definition of participation:

"Participation is a process of *communal experience and mutual recognition*, where individuals *collaborate* in a socially and culturally organized structure (a community), *create goods* indigenous to this structure, *develop relationships* to the activities, artefacts, agents, arenas, and agendas involved, and *negotiate on values* that may reproduce or transform the community" (Stige, 2006, p. 134, emphasis in original).

Stige explains that the collaboration in music therapy usually involves some means of music-making contextualized by complementing activities. Examples of created goods can be musical products or psychological insights, which help develop relationships and contribute to the value negotiations. It doesn't seem farfetched to consider that trust can also be part of created goods, which might nestle into psychological insights (new positive experiences regarding trusting others), or be observable in the musical products. We might also consider how the negotiations of values in the context affect trust, in that shared values (which we can also call social norms) regarding what is deemed appropriate and wanted in the setting can influence the actors' disposition to trust one another in interactions. If an openness to share creative ideas is considered a value in the setting, that might prompt an individual to feel secure in voicing their thoughts as they trust that the other participants will be accepting and respectful, potentially based on the community's internalization of the value alone. Stige's mention of mutual recognition and cooperation in his definition of participation also involves a notion of both power and empowerment, which implies that these are concepts that should also be considered when thinking of trust.

2.2 Music Therapy in Norwegian Child Welfare

In a Norwegian context, Krüger (2012) explored the themes of children's rights and music in his doctoral thesis interviewing 15 adolescents living under institutional care; the following four findings were uncovered:

- 1) Related to their life and upbringing in the child protection institution, many adolescents have experienced serious challenges. Examples are moving, unstable social relations, poor quality communication with adults, and stereotyping by others.
- 2) Music can be valuable in how they organize and make meaning of situations in their everyday life, and a resource that helps adolescents process feelings, thoughts and social participation experiences.
- 3) Music, in a community music therapy workshop setting, can be a resource that helps structuring participation.
- 4) Music can be used to help create communities where people can meet and use music as a communicative means to share important messages with others, while also giving opportunities to dispute established positions of power.

The first finding seems to indicate a lack of trust between the adolescents and the adults around them, where, perhaps in part due to power differences, proper communication has been difficult to establish and so opportunities to build trust have been limited. Further, due to being moved around a lot without much say of their own, trust in the child welfare system as a whole might have been negatively affected, which might influence how they judge new people they encounter, especially if we take into account McFerran's (2010) point that adolescents are very quick to judge whether an adult is trustworthy or not. We might consider that if a new adult is associated with a system in which the adolescent lacks trust, that does not bode well for the development of their specific trust relationship.

The second and third findings in Krüger's study indicate that music in itself can be something the adolescents can trust, similar to the ideas of Smetana (2017) and Ruud (2013). Perhaps by having such a trusting relationship with a musical object or setting, a social situation can be framed in such a way where interaction with others in whom trust is less certain is made easier. The musical structuring of a situation and the "rules" that that provides can provide some clear courses of action for the adolescents (e.g. "we are going to play music together, only rule is play as fast as you can"), which if nothing else might allow them to trust the specific situation's musical rules, and then potentially through shared social and musical experience lead to trust being built between participants. The fourth finding can be taken to indicate that

this is the case, as the musical dimension provides a foundation upon which a community can develop, and can be trusted to convey meaningful messages to others. This can be related to the creation of shared values in a community (Stige, 2006) mentioned previously, which in themselves might be a source of trust participants can depend on. By starting with some sort of trust in the music, relationships and new values can be created and negotiated that build upon, support and develop this initial trust.

Mandal and Bergset (2016) describe experiences from using music therapy as an integrated part of aftercare measures for children and adolescents living in foster care. A rationale for their work is based on that many adolescents who live in foster care experience having a fragmented network around them, and that it is important for people who work with the adolescents to try to find ways to connect these different parts of their lives. Theoretically, it is informed by Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological perspective his understanding of human development. He defines development as "[...] a lasting change in the way in which a person perceives and deals with his environment." (p. 3). This emphasizes the importance of the context(s) the individual is situated in, and the interaction between individual and their environments. As Mandal and Bergset argue, when understanding development like this, it becomes important to be build knowledge about what contexts the individual is a part of. In Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological model, the environment surrounding the individual is conceived of as a set of different context systems or "nested structures". The first and innermost is the *microsystem*, which is the immediate setting the developing individual is situated in. This includes situations where the individual has face-to-face interactions with others, such as in the home, classroom, and friend groups. Second is the *mesosystem*, which is the relationships between the individual's different microsystems, such as between the home and school. In other words, the mesosystem concerns the interactions between the different microsystems (Mandal & Bergset, 2016). Third is the exosystem: this system involves other people and places which the individual does not usually interact with directly, but where the social processes that occur influence their microsystem. This can for example involve the status of the caregivers' workplaces, or school administration. Finally, fourth is the *macrosystem* which contains the most remote set of people to the individual, but which still has strong influence; governments, cultural values, laws etc. Bronfenbrenner (1979) posits that the individual's development occurs through mutually influential interactions between the individual and the different systems they are a part of.

Mandal and Bergset (2016) focus on the mesosystem, explaining that since the adolescents' often experience a fragmented network of microsystems, this means that there

might be a lack of contact between their individual microsystems. The authors argue that the music therapist can potentially assume the role of a *mesoagent*, which means that they are part of several of the microsystems of the adolescent and can work towards strengthening the connection between the different microsystems, such as biological/foster family and school. In their case illustration, the authors describe an experience where the adolescent was part of a concert performance, which her biological family, foster family different groups of friends, teachers and child welfare case worker were present for. Many of them met for the first time, and the situation gave opportunities for the different microsystems to build bridges and bonds between them, creating more coherency in the adolescent's network. In addition, the people in the different microsystems might have experienced a new side of the adolescent's identity which they have not encountered in the context they usually frequent together.

Describing how a music therapist can work as a meso-agent for an adolescent in foster care, Mandal and Bergset (2016) mention that music can be used as a unique medium for communication, which mirrors the findings in Krüger's (2012) study. They describe that music can be used to help the youths regulate their feelings, and help them experience stability and safety. Here too it seems that music as an object or setting can be used as something the adolescent can trust and find support in. The authors suggest song-writing as a useful activity as well, where the songs can be used as containers for difficult experiences and feelings, which they can use in order to potentially build relationships; for example, if past experiences with a biological parent have been challenging, using a song can be a softer and more comfortable way to communicate this with the parent, which might give opportunities to repair broken bridges and build trust in other relationships. In this way, music created in one microsystem can be used as a resource in another. This example indicates that there might be a fairly strong trust relation between the adolescent and music therapist in that the former feels comfortable in sharing difficult thoughts and working together to place them into a song. It also points to a trust in the song itself to be used as a means to confront someone important to the adolescent with a difficult topic.

Mandal and Bergset (2016) do also note that music therapy might not be the correct choice for all adolescents, stating that it is important for the professional to try to meet the adolescent in one of their fields of interest and use this as a foundation to build a relationship. This emphasizes the importance of listening to the child's voice, and respecting their needs, opinions and motivations. I argue that this is important for the building of trust as well, making sure that the adolescent plays a main role in the relationship with the music therapist. As Mandal and Bergset argue, "one size never fits all", and some adolescents might specifically *not* want

different parts of their microsystems to interact with each other. By attempting to "force" something on the adolescent, be that a certain activity or facilitating unwanted interaction between micro-systems, it seems likely that trust between the adolescent and music therapist will become more difficult. In other words, a collaborative approach between the adolescent and music therapist seems more favourable in terms of building trust.

Strandbu et al. (2016) describe "music theatre" as a setting that can be used when working with adolescents in child welfare, empirically informed by interviews with teenagers that have participated as well as observations made from rehearsals and performances over the course of 15 years. This music therapy work in a music theatre setting has a focus on identity development, recreational activities and working towards opportunities of further participation in other contexts.

The conducted interviews indicate that several of the adolescents have struggled with being heard and understood by adults, and that they have been confused or not properly consulted about decisions regarding them, contrary to what the CRC described as part of the children's rights. Strandbu et al. (ibid.) also relate their work to article 8 of the CRC, which is the child's right to identity. The authors explain that the teenage years are especially challenging in terms of identity development, where questions regarding family, important others and thoughts about one's own future are actualized. Teenagers within the child welfare system may have difficulties answering all these questions. This is illustrated in a study of 400 adolescents in Norwegian child welfare institutions by Kayed et al. (2015), where workers in the child welfare institutions describe that 55% of the adolescents in the study have struggled to make friends outside of the institutions due to frequently being moved around the system, which has also led to 21% of the adolescents facing difficulty in terms of attachment.

As mentioned above, several of the teenagers find it challenging to be understood and taken seriously by the adults and system around them. To "take someone seriously" can be defined as considering the other's arguments, thoughts and opinions as assertions that have to be looked further into (Skjervheim, 1996). Relating to this definition, Strandbu (2011) defines participation as "involvement in and communication and interaction with children, where the goal is to achieve an understanding of the child's experiences, expressions and opinions" (p. 81, my translation). In other words, there is an interpretive aspect to realizing a child's right to participate, in that individuals in the child's environment need to be determined and motivated with respect to understanding the child's perspective (Strandbu, 2011; Strandbu et al., 2016). This involves trusting the child as competent and knowledgeable in terms of their own lives, and places a demand on the people around the child to both act and be trustworthy, so that they

are someone the child can open up to. Realizing children's right to participation also involves helping them to express themselves so that they are taken seriously (Strandbu et al., 2016). The authors argue that a music theatre context can be a place where such opportunities for development and understanding can be made available and worked on.

The music theatre form in itself involves all types of theatre that have music as a foundational element, such as musicals, cabarets, opera, dance-dramas etc. (ibid.). Theoretically, as a child welfare measure it is informed by Boal's (1979) method of forum theatre and Freire's (1970/2005) "Pedagogy of the Oppressed." The latter is a theory that involves a notion that dialogue and communication, using language and arts as means, can be valuable in developing equitable relationships characterized by respect (Strandbu et al., 2016). Powerlessness and suppressive life situations can, through dialogue, be transformed into constructive protest and opposition. In the music theatre used by Strandbu et al. (ibid.), the life experiences of the adolescents are used as a starting point to create different scenes, lyrics and performances, partly as an attempt to highlight and challenge established asymmetrical power structures. An attempt is made to help bridge the gap between people who for different reasons struggle to communicate with each other, using music and arts as a means to foster communication and understanding, which can potentially establish healthier relationships and build trust.

Strandbu et al. (2016) note that the most important inspiration they have taken from Freire and Boal are that the music theatre participants are equal actors, engaged in a collaborative work-process spanning over a longer course of time. It is important to facilitate dialogue both between the participants and to actors in other relevant communities, such as child welfare institutions. Participation in the music theatre involves continued interaction between adolescents, peers and adults who meet, talk and do something together, with a mutual goal of collaboratively creating something. There are planned weekly rehearsals, as well as occasional excursions, concerts and revues. Both musical and personal goals are worked on, for example by musical practice or practicing speaking your mind, as well as experience speaking in larger groups and cooperating with other teenagers to solve concrete tasks. The adolescents assume different roles and are given different responsibilities (which can change over time), based on collaborative and dialogical interactions (Krüger & Strandbu, 2015), where the expression of ones needs and opinions is considered a shared value in the collective. As the music theatre has lasted for a long period of time, there are both participants who have only recently joined while others have been there for years. The authors explain that some of the adolescents with more experience and time in the group sometimes assume a "mentor role" for the newer participants, and that former participants often visit in order to meet people they have made friendships with through participation in the group. The group can be thought of as a place of security of comfort, where the participants take care of each other and structure the context in a way where the actors can gain experiences of trust and the effects of trustworthiness. The resultant friendships can be a resource for the individuals even after participation in the music theatre has ended.

Strandbu et al. (2016) break down the work-process of the music theatre into four phases, which are not strictly start-stop sequential but can overlap. They are not driven by predetermined rules and procedures; importantly, their progression and content is defined in collaboration with the participating adolescents (Krüger & Strandbu, 2015).

First is the *planning phase*. This involves mapping out needs and figuring out practical solutions and possibilities, such as which resources (people, places and material) are available. This phase also involves finding out which adolescents are participating and how the musical activities are carried out.

Next is the *preparing phase*. Here the adults and the adolescents get to know each other and work on establishing relationships and trust. Concretely, this occurs by visiting the adolescent's homes or recreational settings. The needs of each adolescent are mapped out, and the actors discuss how these needs can be met through participation in a music theatre. Strandbu et al. (2016) emphasize the importance of explaining the context and goals of the music theatre, providing some predictability about the setting which the adolescents can consider before actually entering into the group. Once the adolescents come together, different activities are used so the actors can start getting to know each other. Examples are association games, roleplay and improvisation theatre. Activities focus on exploring different topics they are concerned with, and voicing individual and collective experiences. The adolescents' individual experiences are used as a means to participate, both shaping future activities and creating bonds between the actors.

Third is the *work phase*. Ideas that sprung out of the previous phase are developed, and transformed into musical objects such as scripts and lyrics. This occurs with the help of a professional writer, who prepares drafts based on the teenagers earlier input. These drafts are then reviewed by the teenagers, who for example comment on whether the texts accurately describe what they meant. While these texts are collaboratively worked on, the participants also work on music that can fit the texts, do band rehearsals and prepare for the performance (the participants switch between being on stage and in the audience). The importance of the audience's role in supporting and helping the performer feel secure on stage is emphasized,

giving them a chance to build some experience being on stage in a safe environment. Individuals from the adolescent's other microsystems also come by rehearsals occasionally, such as friends and family. Strandbu et al. (2016) state that helping the teenagers feel comfortable on stage and developing a sense of ownership of the musical product is crucial in making a performance that is credible and touching to the audience.

A subset of the previous phase is the *realization phase*. This is about focusing on the environment, local community and society at large. Here, the performance is actually held for an external audience invited audience members are not random, as the audience and their response and feedback are an essential part. This is often geared towards friends, family, and people within the child welfare system, both to create a safe setting for the performance and sharing new parts of their identity, while also communicating important messages and experiences. The performance can be seen as a way for the adolescents to invite other actors into a dialogue.

Last is the *evaluation phase*, which takes place after the performance has been given. The group participants give feedback on the work process and the performance, voicing what has worked well and what could use improvement. These evaluations can occur both through individual conversations and group discussions. Feedback from friends, family and child welfare workers are also important, creating a dialogue between the participants and audience. And important point here is that the music theatre's leader takes care to make sure the feedback is both constructive and supportive to development.

3.0 - DEFINING TRUST

A vast amount of research has been done on trust, and a plethora of different definitions exist. The definitions are usually very specific to the research subject at hand, which often leads to challenges comparing findings across different studies. Due to this, I have chosen to rely on the ideas developed in a broad interdisciplinary framework of trust (Rompf, 2014), which attempts to bridge the vast amount of different perspectives and ideas from psychological, sociological and rational choice approaches. The reason for this will hopefully become clear throughout chapter 3. First, I will present the *objective structure of trust*, which are elements that most trust researchers agree upon. Following that I will describe the more contentious *subjective experience of trust*, which trust research seems to have struggled to collectively define. Subsequently, Rompf's solution will be presented, involving a notion of adaptive rationality and dual-processing modes.

3.1 The objective structure of trust

A trusting act requires *actors* as constituents of an interpersonal trust relation. Note, while trust is commonly meant to mean something between to individual actors, it can also refer to a relation between a person and other groups, collectives, social institutions etc. In a trust relation, the individual and purposeful actors are the primary *subjects of trust* (Rompf, 2014), here referred to as *trustors*. The primary *objects of trust* are other actors, organizations, groups or institutions, referred to as *trustees* in the following.

Rompf (ibid.) notes that while cases of interpersonal trust between two actors don't necessarily directly explain how trust works on a larger scale, such relations of dyadic trust make up the micro social building-blocks which constitute a larger system of trust. In order to understand other social phenomena, such as social integration at large, it is necessary to sufficiently comprehend dyadic trust relations (ibid). This is because if we conceive of trust as a mental phenomenon, its only level of emergence is from the individual micro-level. Due to this, the concept of trust will in the following focus on these building blocks, and thus be limited to trust relations between two individual actors. Trust in groups, collective actors, and in the economic and political system as a whole, are classified as "system trust" in order to differentiate such types of trust from the concept of interpersonal trust (ibid; p. 32). System trust isn't irrelevant, as such trust can be the starting point for certain types of interpersonal trust, but this will be explored further in section 3.3.

The *trust relation* refers to the special relation between trustor and trustee. A trust relation is always made up of a three-part relation manifested as "A trusts B with respect to X" (Hardin, 2002, p. 9). Here, A and B refer to trustor and trustee respectively, while item X refers to the *content of the trust relation*. Trustor, trustee and the content of the trust relation are the main elements of interpersonal trust relations. In terms of music therapy, this can for example be that the adolescent trusts the music therapist specifically with regards to teaching them how to play guitar.

Defining the Basic Trust Problem

As a prerequisite for a trust relation, the trustor has to be confronted with a certain decision-making problem when deciding whether to trust. Rompf (2014) presents two different sets of actions the trustor can decide to choose from when dealing with a basic trust problem. The first set's actions leave the trustor vulnerable to the trustee's response. Control over resources or events are transferred to the trustee, whose future actions will decide outcomes of loss or gain for the trustor. The trustor cannot precisely predict the trustee's actions or rely on the external enforcement to negate the risk. The second set of actions eliminates potential losses, vulnerability and risk altogether, as a transfer of control is not made and there is no opportunity for the trustee to decide the outcome. An adolescent could for instance choose to share something difficult and personal with the music therapist (thus leaving them vulnerable to the music therapist's response, but potentially being supported and cared for if a trustworthy response is given), or they could choose not to and not risk anything, but eliminate all possibilities of gain too.

When a trustor chooses an action from the first set, we can say that A trusts B, which is referred to as a *trusting act*. This trusting act establishes the trust relation. If the trustor chooses an action from the second set, we can say that A *distrusts* B, and the observed action is distrust. Assuming that A chooses to trust B with respect to X, then all actions B can take which do not harm A and serve to achieve the potential gain and utility increase for A, are part of the content of the trust relation X. B is considered *trustworthy* when they fulfil A's trust by choosing such actions.

Lewis and Weigert (1985) define the behavioural content of trust as choosing a risky course of action through which one can see trust demonstrated. Since the trustor has to transfer control over select resources or events to the trustee while not being able to know for sure what the final outcome will yield, Luhmann (2000, p. 27) interprets the choice of a trusting act as a "risky investment". However, do we always *choose* to trust? A behavioural approach considers

an observable trusting act as the trustor's rational choice among actions, based on sufficient expectations of a trustworthy response (Coleman, 1990). However, Mayer et al. (1995) maintain that there is a fundamental difference between trust and trusting behaviours, in that having a willingness to assume a risk is not the same as actually assuming that risk. Therefore, trust is often conceived of by authors as a psychological state (Kramer, 1999) or a mental phenomenon (Lahno, 2002), and intrinsically connected to subjective affect and knowledge. Thus, choosing to perform a trusting act only displays some observable outcome, while when actually trusting someone, the trustor accepts the trust problem's inherent vulnerability (Rompf, 2014). Rompf offers an understanding of trust as a two-step process, in which trust begins with the subjective definition of the situation (interpretation), which both leads to and prepares for the eventual choice of an action in the trust problem. This will be expanded upon later.

Social Uncertainty

A trust problem involves some degree of *social uncertainty* (Kramer, 2006). If we assume that a trustor has *perfect knowledge* of all of the trustee's motivations, intentions and preferences, then the trustor can perfectly predict if the trustee will respond with a trustworthy action. Trust would be unnecessary in such a deterministic context, although we would still be able to observe trusting acts. If the trustor has *zero information* there is no opportunity for trust, and the choice of a trusting act would be left to blind chance. This means that as a concept, trust refers to a situation in between these two extremes, where there is neither a state of perfect knowledge or of complete ignorance (Simmel, 1992).

A trust problem always has a degree of asymmetric and imperfect information in a trust problem, then. Asymmetric in the sense that while the trustor might not have perfect knowledge of the trustee's characteristics, this knowledge is available to the trustee. Imperfect meaning that the trustor typically knows *something* about the trustee that can be used in the trust problem. As the information is not perfect, we can say that a trustworthy response can only be predicted with some probability – such a "subjective assessment of the probability of an event" can be referred to as an *expectation* (Rompf, 2014, p. 37), and we will adopt that understanding of expectation in this thesis.

Social uncertainty stems from both the imperfect information concerning the trustee, and the fact that the trustor has no control over the outcome once trust has been chosen. Social uncertainty results from being dependent upon the decisions of other actors, and can be avoided in a trust problem by choosing to distrust. Social uncertainty can never be avoided when a trusting act has been chosen by a trustor, which means it is inherently a part of a basic trust

problem (Rompf, 2014). This is in line with what many researchers have defined as one of the objective core elements of trust problems – the cocktail of potential opportunistic actions with imperfect information and social uncertainty (Dasgupta, 1988; Gambetta, 1988; Luhmann, 2000; Hardin, 2001; Kramer, 2006). When a trustor chooses to trust, the social uncertainty is bypassed or "ignored", in a way that seems beyond the expectations that could come from reasoning and experience on their own (Lewis & Weigert, 1985).

Vulnerability

Since trust will always include a transfer of control of resources from the trustor to the trustee, there will always be an objective vulnerability on the part of the trustor (Deutsch, 1960). If there is no vulnerability present, then the outcome is irrelevant trustor and trust is unnecessary (Mishra, 1996). Conversely, Heimer (2001) found that vulnerability increases along with the stakes in an interaction. We can also speak of an *individual subjective experience of vulnerability* (Rompf, 2014). This aspect encompasses a qualitative element of individual subjective experience, manifested as an internal response to the incentive structure. Trust can be considered as a psychological state which is made up of the "intention to accept vulnerability", given favourable expectations of the behaviour or intentions of another actor (Rousseau et al., 1998, p. 395). This means the trustor is conscious of the vulnerability inherent in a relevant trust problem, but opts to go for the risky choice of a trusting act.

3.2 The subjective experience of trust

Most theorists agree upon the fact that trust can be considered as a fundamentally psychological state, regardless of what other features are essential (Kramer, 1999). However, theorists have offered many suggestions for the characteristics of this psychological state of mind (Bigley & Pearce, 1998). Cognitive conceptualizations of trust tend to focus on the trustor as a rational actor aiming for the achievement of maximum utility when faced with a trust problem – key elements are what expectations, beliefs and intentions the trustor uses. This perspective views the trust phenomenon as something completely cognitive, where the trustor utilizes existing knowledge in order to form an unemotional expectation which leads to a corresponding rational choice to trust or distrust (Luhmann, 1988; Rousseau et al., 1998). When viewing trust as situated in the category of knowledge, Hardin (2001) notes that in instances where the trustor's rational choice in the interaction was incorrect, that simply results in a need for the existing knowledge of the trustor to be updated.

Viewing trust from a psychological perspective, McAllister (1995) found that a unique basis for trust can be formed through the emotional bonds between two individuals, while Jones and George (1998) found that moods and emotions can influence the subjective experience of trust, and that they can indicate the quality and presence of trust in a relationship. Burke and Stets (1999) argue that trust can create a sense of commitment, confidence and security, as well as induce attachment to the trustee.

It seems that there are processes that work interrelatedly through affective, cognitive as well as behavioural aspects with respect to trust. Rompf (2014) notes that such a proposed dimensionality of the trust construct is similar to that of attitude research, which has explored and explained attitudes through the three dimensions of cognition, affect and behaviour (Breckler, 1984; Chaiken & Stangor, 1987). Lewis and Weigert (1985) offer an explanation as to why trust research varies so greatly in how it perceives the subjective experience of trust, by saying that the distinct manifestations of the affective, cognitive and behavioural dimensions need not necessarily be equally present at all times. Some trust relations might be influenced more greatly by one of the dimensions; intimate relationships might be more affective in nature, while more foreign situations may be more influenced by the cognitive dimension. Rompf (2014) explains that while this may be the case, all three of the dimensions are present at all times in the experience of trust; be that through the knowledge structures and corresponding expectations which are part of the cognitive dimension, moods, feelings and emotions which constitute the affective dimension, or the behavioural intention to act on trust. He also adds that the normatively and culturally structured environment is referenced implicitly, and that all of these elements merge to become a unique experience of trust.

Expectations

The trustor will utilize the knowledge they have available to create a group of assumptions, beliefs or expectations considering the probability that the trustee's future actions will be beneficial to the trustor's interest, or at least that the outcome won't be harmful (Robinson, 1996). Many authors have placed an emphasis on the trustor's positive expectations concerning the outcome of a trusting act (Deutsch, 1958; Rotter, 1967; Coleman, 1990; Hardin, 1993; Robinson, 1996; Gambetta, 1998; Rousseau et al., 1998; Kramer, 1999). Rompf (2014) labels and summarizes these expectations, beliefs and assumptions as the trustor's *expectation of trustworthiness*. Gambetta (1988) explains that the trustor requires their expectation of trustworthiness to exceed a subjective threshold value in order to perform a trusting act,

dependent upon both individual dispositions and situational circumstances. In other words, an expectation that surpasses the subjective threshold will be considered a favourable expectation.

The Danish philosopher and theologist Løgstrup (1956) considers us humans to be born with a natural trust in our surroundings, and thus that we initially have a generally favourable expectation of trustworthiness. He bases this assumption upon a belief that people are deeply dependent upon one another due to a mutual influence on each other's lives. He argues that as we grow older, we learn to adjust our expectations and trust accordingly based on experience, but that children have not necessarily had the same opportunities for such an adjustment. He further elaborates that if children are met with breaches of trust and a rejection of their own trustworthiness early in their lives, this can be of major consequence for the child, and greatly impact their expectation of trustworthiness and willingness to trust as they grow older (ibid). We can elaborate by connecting this to Rotter's (1967) definition of interpersonal trust, which considers trust a favourable expectation concerning the reliability of another actor's promise, oral/written statement or word. Rotter offers a distinction between expectations that are *specific* and generalized. While the specific expectations are comprised of experiences and an interaction history with a specific individual, the generalized expectations are more abstract and consist of more generally similar experiences in a larger range of situations with different actors. In any given situation, Rotter argues that we use both our specific and generalized expectations when faced with interpreting the interaction partner. We could hypothesize that since our social networks very early in our lives might be limited in size, dramatic or traumatic interactions with important specific individuals might have far-reaching implications for our generalized expectations as we grow older, in line with Løgstrup's thoughts. This carries implications if we consider our expectations to provide some sort of general theory regarding what we can expect in terms of trustworthiness. If our expectations tell us not to trust on a general level, we could be in danger of never involving ourselves socially and might risk social isolation.

Four major trustee characteristics have been described which relate to positive expectations of trustworthiness: benevolence, competence, integrity and predictability (Mayer et al., 1995; McKnight et al., 1998). These characteristics are assumed to notably influence both the perceived trustworthiness and resulting level of interpersonal trust, and are considered to be "antecedents of trust" (Mayer et al., 1995, p. 727). *Benevolence* is understood as how much the trustee cares about the trustor's welfare, and involves a trustee's personal orientation towards the trustor. *Competence* refers to the skills or ability the trustee has that actually make fulfilling the content of the trust relation possible. Rompf (2014, p. 44) illustrates this by saying

that while A trusts B with regard to X, that might not be the case with Y, because an expectation of competence is specific to an activity or context. *Integrity* refers to how consistent the trustee's actions have been in the past. This relates to how honest, truthful and open the trustee has been, and whether or not what they say matches what they do (Hosmer, 1995). Finally, *predictability* concerns the trustors evaluation of the trustee's personality, and an assessment of whether they act predictably or not. In other words, can the trustor predict that the trustee will behave and act consistently enough to warrant a trusting action? Taken together, these four characteristics can explain a large part of perceived trustworthiness (Mayer et al., 1995).

Rompf (2014, p. 46) presents five micro- and macro-sources of trust-related knowledge based on several theoretical accounts:

- (1) *Specific expectations* Includes knowledge of the characteristics of the specific trustee, as well as information concerning the particular and unique trust problem
- (2) *Dyadic embeddedness* of the trust relation Knowledge that concerns experience taken from reciprocal, repeated interactions between the specific actors
- (3) *Network embeddedness* of the trustor and trustee Entails knowledge about the relevant social mechanisms of learning, control and reputation
- (4) *Institutional embeddedness* This consists of knowledge tied to internalization of social roles, cultural practices, norms related to trust on one hand, and knowledge of various safeguards the institution might have, such as regulations, contracts or guarantees
- (5) *Generalized expectations* The individual disposition to trust, as well as aspects like moral principles, values and stereotypes.

Basically, the trustor has a broad range of tools at their disposal which are utilized when establishing expectations in a trust problem. Trust is defined by cognitive accounts as the intention and willingness to be vulnerable, given sufficiently favourable expectations of trustworthiness when met with social uncertainty (Mayer et al. 1995, McKnight et al. 1998, Rousseau et al. 1998, Rompf, 2014).

Risk and ambiguity

Risk and ambiguity seem to be very similar concepts, as they both refer to the subjective perception of an objective uncertainty. But there is a difference: faced with a situation carrying a risk, the decision maker is able to subjectively *precisely* predict the probability that events will occur (Rompf, 2014). The actor has a certain expectancy of risk in the situation, and we can understand risk as "the perceived probability of loss which originates from the choice of an uncertain event" (ibid., page 48). While the actual occurrence of a risk-related event in a given

situation might be uncertain, the actor has an *unambiguous expectation* of it. If I walk around with my eyes closed, I can expect that I might bump into something with an exact subjective likelihood, though it doesn't necessarily need to occur – my expectation of risk is unambiguous.

When confronted with ambiguity on the other hand, attaching any precise probabilities to events is impossible. Our expectations are imprecise, and we don't have enough information or knowledge available to utilize in order to sharpen them. Situations of ambiguity refer to imprecise expectations concerning uncertain events, as opposed to situations of risk which contain certain expectations (ibid.).

As previously noted, Lewis and Weigert (1985) explained a trusting action as a bypassing of social uncertainty, seemingly exceeding whatever expectations come solely from reasoning and experience. An interesting solution to this is Möllering's (2001) concept of *suspension*. According to Möllering, suspension removes situational ambiguity by making available knowledge temporarily certain, allowing the actor to define expectations as either favourable or unfavourable in order to transform ambiguity into a manageable risk. Similarly, Luhmann (2000, p. 30) argues that when trusting, external uncertainty is replaced by an internal certainty through "overdrawing information." These notions seem to add a somewhat irrational element to a cognitive conceptualization of trust, through which trustors can surpass their rational expectations (Rompf, 2014). When thinking about why the trustor would go through such a process of suspending ambiguity, we might infer that it is to both protect the self from the ambiguous social uncertainty, as well as give opportunities to move forward and perform actions when dealing with unfamiliar situations.

Normative dimension of trust

A common characteristic of the normative dimension of trust is that the trustee's compliance to values, moral principles and other social norms forms the basis of their motivation for trustworthiness (Hardin, 2003). The normative dimension helps us understand the importance of where the trust relations are situated, meaning their embeddedness in social systems, the social norms within these systems, as well as the societal values in general (Rompf, 2014). The normative dimension of trust implies that there is a connection between the individual, institution and culture, and that we must consider trust both from an individual and collective perspective, as it is thoroughly imbued in both (Lewis & Weigert, 1985). Ripperger (1998) explains that in order to protect trust and trustworthiness within a social system, behaviour needs to be regulated by the social establishment of internal mechanisms which promote the

internalization of social norms and moral values, unless mechanisms of external enforcement (such as contracts) can be used.

Rule-based trust is based on a shared understanding of appropriate behaviour according to the relevant system of rules (Kramer, 1999). This understanding assumes that both actors in a trust relation each have an established value system and an implicit understanding of the cultural practices and socially shared norms (Rompf, 2014). Rule-based trust is group specific, and depends on how the social system structures the normative rules. For rule-based trust to be relevant, the actors need to be socialized into the same social system and have internalized the same set of social norms. As Lewis and Weigert (1985) summarize: "In groups for which trust exists as a social reality, interpersonal trust comes naturally and is not reducible to individual psychology" (p. 976). The rules, roles and routines of the institutional framework in which the trust relation is situated can give enough reason for choosing a trusting act, because they give meaning to action by representing socially shared expectations for the individuals within the collective (Rompf, 2014).

The affective dimension – emotions and feelings

Many researchers point out the importance of an affective dimension as well (Lewis & Weigert, 1985; Rempel et al., 1985; McAllister, 1995; Jones & George, 1998; Schul, 2008; Lount, 2010). The consensus seems to be that both cognitive and affective dimensions are necessary for understanding trust, as trust can both be thought of and felt.

We can make a theoretical distinction between moods and emotions when understanding the affective dimension. Emotions are tied to particular affective reactions one has to a specific event. Emotions tend to be clear, intense and short-lived (Rompf, 2014). Moods on the other hand are less clear-cut, not quite as intense and generally last longer, and the specific cause for its emergence not usually immediately apparent (ibid). Both moods and emotions tell us how we feel about the situations we find ourselves in, which also includes our interactions with others.

Our affective states can be a source of information we utilize heuristically when making decisions, defined by Schwarz and Clore (1983) as the "feeling-as-information" paradigm. Put simply, a complex decision problem can be solved by considering "how we feel about it", where the answer guides our decision-making. Rompf notes that affective states have a *direct* influence on individual's judgments when they let their feelings inform decision-making, and an indirect influence when they change the individuals processing strategies, and so influence "what comes to mind." (Rompf, 2014, p. 57).

Jones and George (1998) found that by experiencing either positive or negative emotions, the trustor can be influenced in whether they deem the trustee trustworthy or not. In other words, their emotions can inform their interpretation and judgment of the other actor. This can be connected to cognitive appraisal theory, which basically refers to how people make sense of events through a personal interpretation and "appraisal" of the situation utilizing relevant available knowledge (Yap & Tong, 2009). Cognitive appraisal theory suggests that emotions are the outcome of a series of cognitive processes which are activated if the individual recognizes the current situation as being relevant to personal wellbeing (Rompf, 2014, p. 58). Maier (2009) notes the importance of the interpretation of a given trust problem, and argues that a plethora of different emotional reactions can emerge simply from the initial interpretation – emotions can be activated through a cognitive appraisal of the situation's *meaning*. Maier adds that the particular context where the trust problem is embedded can determine the arousal of any specific emotion. The perceived status of the trust relation, the trustor's knowledge of the trustee, and the particular set of expectations associated with the situation are reflected in the trustor's emotional reaction.

Moods and emotions can also influence "what comes to mind", which impacts how we interpret and form expectations of a situation. One might suppose that being in a happy mood makes you more inclined to trust and vice-versa with negative states. This has been shown empirically, and induced emotions can influence trust even when they are unrelated to the trustee (Dunn & Schweitzer, 2005). For example, the recognition of faces has been found to trigger automatic emotional responses (Phelps, 2006) which are consequential for evaluations of trustworthiness (Winston et al., 2002).

Bless and Fiedler (2006) found that positive moods make us more likely to rely on existing knowledge structures (a top-down processing style), while negative moods push us to rely on external information (a bottom-up processing style). Forgas and East (2008) demonstrated that negative moods can increase an individual's scepticism, reduce their likelihood to interpret interpersonal communication as being truthful, and *improve* their ability to accurately detect actual deception. Research has also found that positive moods might result in less trust, as individuals with a top-down processing strategy are more likely to recognize situational cues that indicate distrust (Lount 2010). Interestingly, if individuals are made aware of their affective state and its origin, its influence on judgments and decision-making is neutralized (Dunn and Schweitzer 2005, Lount 2010). Summarized, both emotions or moods are important when thinking of the subjective perception of trust, as they can directly or indirectly influence the judgments and decisions we make in a trust problem.

According to Lewis and Weigert (1985), strong affective bonds between actors can develop into being the predominant part of the trust in mature trust relations. It can be described as a state of positive affect associated with feelings of emotional security and confidence, where the trustor does not even consider that the trustee will breach trust (McAllister, 1995; Lahno, 2001, 2002; Rompf, 2014). An affective state of trust can be imagined like a perceptive filter that immediately impacts the preferences and beliefs of the trustor (Lahno 2001). To understand this, we can use the idea of relational schemata, which Baldwin (1992) relates to how we process social information. Relational schemata are an explanation for how people frame their social relations, based on the idea that individuals develop cognitive structures through social interactions which represent "regularities in patterns of interpersonal relatedness" (ibid., page 461). They can be both *general* or *specific* to a relation. These schemata also contain typical affective responses, which can be automatically triggered in the form of associated moods and emotions if the relational schemata between two particular actors is developed through repeated interactions (Andersen & Chen, 2002). Basically, the more developed and mature the trust relation and its associated relational schemata is, the more likely trust is dominated by affective elements. The authors found that in some cases, developed specific relational schemata can be applied to actors and contexts even where the specific significant other is *not present*. If a new person is eliciting interpersonal cues which match the specific relational schemata (the way they listen, meet one's gaze, habits, attitudes, gestures etc.), that can contribute to the specific relational schemata being deemed as applicable in the situation by the trustor, as well as activating the associated relational self (ibid., page 623).

Essentially, affective states are an important dimension of the subjective experience of trust. They inform the trustor of the status and nature of initial and ongoing trust relations in specific situations (Rompf, 2014). When trusting, a trustor chooses to perform the trusting act either because their expectations are sufficiently favourable and stable, or their corresponding affective state make the choice to trust "feel right". Emotions and current mood can influence whether the trustor interprets the trustee as trustworthy, but also be directly activated through the trustors cognitive appraisals in a particular trust problem. The degree to which the trust relation is developed and matured can influence whether the choice of a trusting act is rooted more in affective or cognitive elements. Essentially, both feelings and rational thinking are fundamentally important in trust relations.

3.3 System trust and institutional trust

System trust concerns social systems or abstract institutions as *objects of trust* (Rompf, 2014). It manifests and is made sustainable through the ongoing and confirmatory experience of the system's functioning, illustrated for example through the stability of monetary systems. System trust is maintained by the individual participants' trust in the functioning of the system as a whole (Luhmann, 1979). It relates to an institution's global features which both structure and control interaction in social settings, such as its main goals, structure, legitimacy, operation and sanctioning potential (Rompf, 2014). System trust has implications for the system's functioning and stability, and a lack of system trust leads to the social system's deterioration and decline (Lewis & Weigert, 1985).

Institutions can function as a basis for the formation of expectations in a trust problem, by providing relevant rules and social norms. Rompf (2014) describes institutional trust as the "manifestation of system trust in a particular interaction" (p. 68). Luhmann (1979) argues that system trust is dependent upon the individuals' assumption that other participants in the social system also equally trust in it, and can be thought of as "trust in trust". High levels of system trust can be described as ones' expectation that the social system provides effective regulation and structure to the other participants through institutional rules, norms and procedures, and sanctioning measures. Institutional trust can emerge if this perception of system trust is sufficient (ibid). High levels of system trust can be thought of as providing a sense of security and stability to the individual as they interact within the social system. Rompf (2014) summarizes the distinction between institutional and system trust by explaining that institutional trust refers to the trustor's specific interpretation of the institutional rules in relation to the trustee's action, while system trust refers to assumptions about whether the rules are generally valid, applicable and enforced.

Over time, as interactions and experiences structured by institutional trust within the social system comply with our assumptions and expectations, system trust is strengthened. This illustrates how larger systems of trust are made up of building blocks constituting of dyadic trust relations. Using the medical system as an example, Giddens (1990) argues that specific, interpersonal trust relations with medical professionals plays a large role in developing trust in the system as a whole. An assumption that can be made here is that the same is true for specific interpersonal trust relations with music therapists or other child welfare workers in shaping trust in the child welfare system. All these dyadic trust relations form the building blocks of system trust for a relevant institution, and provide generalized expectations for trust relations between actors who are otherwise anonymous to one another – such as initial doctor-patient meetings.

Trust relations are embedded into a social context, and both individuals and social systems influence the framework of interaction in which trust occurs, which means that trust cannot be understood as exclusively belonging to either (Luhmann, 1979, p. 6)

3.4 Objective structure to subjective experience

As illustrated above, trust is complex and multifaceted. In order to properly understand it, there is a need to examine the concept from several disciplinary approaches. I will now briefly outline the main points taken from the psychological, sociological and economic approaches. The claims from these different approaches might seem to initially be conflicting.

3.4.1 Psychological development – learning theories

Can trust be learned? When a trustor faces a trust problem, the information they have available shapes their expectation of trustworthiness. The trustor interprets and uses this *stored knowledge* together with both affectual information and any immediate situational impressions to form expectations of trustworthiness (Rompf, 2014). Generalized expectations are created, or "learned", from a large number of past experiences, which the trustor uses to inform their immediate impressions of a trustee when there is no specific knowledge available. Expectations of trustworthiness are informed by actual interaction history between the actors, where they have had the opportunity to build a relationship and learn about each other. Individuals can learn social rules, norms and roles, which they can also use to inform the choice of a trusting act. Essentially, the psychology of trust is constructed through experience (Hardin, 1993).

When understanding how the structure of knowledge is determined and organized, we can use the concept of "schema" (Rumelhart, 1980). Schemata are mental representations of the world that let us recognize what we already know, and we use them as interpretive schemes of reality to abstract the typical from specific experiences as well as to understand context. They function as theories about reality, and guide us when making new experiences (Baldwin, 1992). The totality of the schemata in a given moment construct the internal model we have of any given situation (Rumelhart, 1980). Greenwald and Pratkanis (1984) defined identity as a collection of self-related schemata, while Fiske (1993) defined stereotypes as socially shared schemata that include the prominent traits of a social category. Schematic knowledge can be "updated" if we encounter experiences that contradict them, but as long as experiences or situational cues do not deviate too far from the available knowledge, people can use a process

of "familiarization" to accommodate for unfamiliar events by discerning their "distance" to internalized schemata (Möllering, 2006b)

When schemata indicate that a situation is familiar and known, this allows for routine behaviour which relates directly to the interpretation process (Schütz & Luckmann, 1973). Routine is interrupted if a situation appears problematic if stored knowledge cannot be used to define it properly, which leads to relevant knowledge being brought into consciousness in order to rationally attempt to understand the situation. If routine is left uninterrupted, we interpret automatically (ibid.). From this we can infer that perhaps trust-related knowledge could also potentially be applied routinely when in familiar contexts with well-known individuals.

We can understand the concepts of learning, familiarization and routine as important dimensions of socialization (Rompf, 2014). Through socialization, individuals learn and internalize society's basic rules, norms and values, and develop schemata concerning what is typical and irregular, usually from significant others in their lives. Simultaneously, the individual learns and generalizes a multitude of socially shared schemata through experience, which they use to add meaning to typical situations, action sequences, actions, roles, routines and technical skills (Rompf, 2014, p. 84). This socially shared knowledge influences an individual's perception, interpretation, planning and action (D'Andrade, 1995). Schematic knowledge of typical situations, or *frames*, make the main goals of a given situation clear, and allow the social definition of a situation to be reciprocal between actors (Lindenberg, 1992).

This relates to trust as it is rooted in specific information, for example about the trustee, dyadic/network embeddedness, the normative culture surrounding the trust relation (rules, norms, roles, values) and generalized expectations. As this suggests the possibility of trust becoming routine and habitual behaviour, the processes of both socialization and learning can be considered important in terms of conditions for interpersonal trust.

Basic trust and attachment theory

Erikson (1950) described the idea of *basic trust* being formed in infants and children, which involves the creation of a "basic sense of faith in the self and the world" (p. 80). According to Erikson, the formation of basic trust occurs within the first two years of life, is preconscious, and involves a vague sense of safety and consistency regarding the relationship between the child and its caregiver(s). It is rooted in the child's experience of the environment as secure and capable of providing general satisfaction of its needs. It relates strongly to the caregivers' availability, reliability and predictability in response to the child, and is primarily an emotional concept. It is part of the child's identity development, influences social interaction, and provides

a general orientation of perceiving others as being trustworthy or not. A criticism here is that it portrays the child as a passive actor, and many argue that the child is an equal participant during this development (Warming, 2013).

Bowlby (1969) similarly describes the early affective bonds children have with their parents as fundamentally important, and emphasizes their impact for adult life. His research spurred the development of *attachment theory*, which studies and explains how attachments are formed and influence relationships throughout the course of life. Primary questions are how and why children make emotional attachments to their caregivers, and if/how this influences how relationships are developed and maintained throughout life. These attachment bonds are grounded in the infant's need for safety and protection. This early feeling of faith and security in a caregiver's reliability and responsiveness comes with the creation of one of the first relational schemata the child develops (with their caregiver(s)). If a child has a secure attachment with their caregivers and basic trust, this reflects an inner sense of security in the child in which everything in the environment appears typical and expected; thus, we can understand basic trust as related to a routine, taken-for-grantedness of reality.

Individual dispositions and traits

Several authors argue the idea that learned trust-related knowledge can transform into stable individual dispositions and personality traits (Erikson, 1968; Rotter, 1980; Hardin, 1993, 2002). Building on this, theories which focus on differences in trusting behaviour in an inter-individual sense have been proposed, jointly called theories of dispositional trust (Kramer, 1999). These theories have a central assumption that aspects within people make them more or less likely to trust others. Rotter (1980), in a social learning perspective, describes trust in terms of a generalized expectation of other people's trustworthiness, meaning that an individual develops a general expectation through their prior experiences involving trust. This generalized trust functions as a reference for the individual when trusting unfamiliar others, and its influence increases the more novel the situation is to the trustor. If the situation is familiar, the generalized expectations can be replaced by specific ones depending on how developed the trustor-trustee relationship is (ibid.).

Hardin (1993) describes a similar perspective, arguing that early-life experiences like and neglect can deeply impact the individual's capacity to trust, represented by a "general optimism about the trustworthiness of others" (p. 508). This is especially consequential for low-trust types, as they cannot gain any utility from trust as they avoid trusting interactions, which also diminishes the possibility to learn and update their general expectations of trustworthiness

through positive trust experiences. Empirical studies exploring the difference between low- and high-trust types find that the latter are more likely to notice trust-related information and correctly judge another's trustworthiness (Yamagishi et al., 1999), are able to adjust faster in situations that show signs of untrustworthiness (Yamagishi, 2001), and are more trustworthy and honest in terms of their behaviour and more positively viewed by others (Rotter, 1980). However, Gill et al. (2005) found that individual dispositions to trust can only be used to predict trusting intentions in situations where the trust-related information concerning a trustee is ambiguous. If the situational cues clearly point to the trustworthiness of a trustee, these become the basis for judging their trustworthiness rather than the individual dispositions and traits of the trustee. While internal factors like traits and dispositions seem relevant in interpersonal trust, their effect in a given situation may be limited when considering external factors.

Dynamic Models of trust development

Researchers have also focused on how trust develops and changes in relationships over time (Lewis & Weigert, 1985; McAllister, 1995, Jones & George, 1998; Lewicki et al. 2006). Through a series of repeated interactions in an ongoing relationship, multiple trust relations are developed and specific trust-related knowledge generated. There is a focus on how expectations, intentions and affect regarding the other evolve as the relationship progresses, and an assumption that the trust relations become reciprocal. Lewicki et al. (1998) claim that relationships have a "bandwidth" and "richness." The relationship bandwidth concerns which specific contexts of interpersonal relating the interpersonal trust is relevant to, where the bandwidth will be broader if trust is experienced across several contexts and very narrow if the interpersonal trust is only valid with regard to one specific context. The relationship richness concerns how detailed knowledge is across the bandwidth, meaning how much information the individuals know about each other in relation to the various contexts.

From this perspective, trust is generally considered to be low at first and building up over time through experience (Lewicki et al., 2006). The increase in trust is typically fuelled by interactions that are mutually satisfying (Rempel et al., 1985) If the outcomes of a trust interaction is successful, this is associated with positive emotions and moods, making the experience of trust favourable and warranting a continued relationship and building of trust (Jones & George, 1998. Essentially, trust creates more trust.

Lewicki and Bunker (1995) proposed that trust evolves through the stages of *calculus-based trust*, *knowledge-based trust* and *identification-based trust*. When considering the choice of a trusting act in calculus-based trust, the trustor calculates the gains and losses the trustee

will have if they choose to be untrustworthy, and uses this as a guide. In knowledge-based trust, the actors have gotten to know each other and stabilized their expectations through repeated interaction. Rather than focusing on assessing the consequences of specific actions like in calculus-based trust, the trustor focuses on the trustee's qualities and characteristics (Lewicki et al., 2006). Jones and George (1998) classified these first two stages of trust as conditional trust, which they argue is adequate to enable most social interactions. The last stage of identification-based trust springs out of a mature relationship where the actors have developed a mutual identification with each other accompanied by strong affect. The actors have developed shared values and common goals, and move towards being motivated by maximizing joint outcomes rather than self-interest (Lewicki et al., 2006). Trustworthiness is unquestioned, as the actors have learned through joint experiences to be confident in the other's values (Jones & George, 1998). Jones and George (ibid.) consider this stage as unconditional trust, where uncertainty is completely removed and mutual attachment is increased. The other's motivation is now attributed to intrinsic motives as well as an established shared social identity (Rempel et al. 1985). This stage is an example of real "blind" trust, where trustworthiness is taken for granted.

These models of trust development help us understand how specific relational schemata, favourable expectations, affect and attachment are developed, which are important sources of trust-related knowledge. They also illustrate how trust moves from calculating subjective perception of trust towards a state of affect and security.

3.4.2 Sociological perspectives – functions of trust

Sociological approaches to trust focus more on trust as a relational concept, and places the socially embedded trust problem in a broader institutional and cultural context (Lewis & Weigert, 1985). This approach explains how trust-related knowledge is socially predefined, as it is internalized through socialization that occurs in a context with a specific social stock of knowledge. This approach also explores how social institutions influence and shape the way trustors solve a trust problem, for example through the use of trust-related knowledge such as the institution's social roles or norms. This trust-related knowledge can lead to trust problems being solved through what is considered "appropriate" in the situation.,

This perspective considers trust an element in a fundamentally social human reality, and relates trust to the social context it is embedded in. The relational features of trust are emphasized. Trust is conceived of as an element of multiple actors in the form of dyads and groups rather than isolated individuals (Lewis & Weigert, 1985). Trust can be understood as

having mainly a sociological function, since it is unnecessary unless in social relations. The need for trust stems from the complexity of the social world individuals interact in (Luhmann, 1979), and so trust can be understood as a means for the individual to reduce social uncertainty and be able to act. The importance of trust in social interactions will lead to it commonly being institutionally protected, to make sure that rule-based trust is valid and applicable for the individual, and that system trust can be maintained. Sociological approaches demonstrate another way trust can emerge unconditionally, through actors' routine application of institutional rules which stem out of situational normality and structural assurance (Rompf, 2014).

Another important focus for sociological approaches is how trust works in regard to the social systems is originates and is sustained in. It promotes socializing, participation with others and enriches networks of interpersonal ties as well as encouraging tolerance and acceptance of strangers (Sztompka, 1999). Fundamentally, trust is considered as a primary element of successful social integration and the maintenance of social order (Luhmann, 1988; Giddens, 1990).

Social embeddedness

The strategies trustor's employ to solve a trust problem is influenced by the social embeddedness of the trust relation, through the availability of resources and the costs of action, and activates relevant cultural schemata such as norms (Heimer, 2001). The relationships between the trustor and trustee, trusting parties and other actors in a social system, actors and the relevant social system itself are all part of the social embeddedness (Rompf, 2014). Individuals are regarded as embedded in networks of personal relationships, which means that actions always occur in a social context. Trust and trustworthiness are influenced by mechanisms of learning and control (Yamagishi & Yamagishi, 1994). Control involves opportunities for reward and punishment in response to a trustee's actions, while learning entails opportunities for the trustor to get information about the trustee, either through past interaction, from third parties through reputation or through the surrounding institutional structures. We can differentiate social embeddedness into dyadic, network and institutional embeddedness (Rompf, 2014).

Dyadic embeddedness involves the repeated interactions between two individuals. It refers to a situation where the trustor and trustee already have a history of interaction, or where it is likely they will interact again in the future. There is a dimension of power to these trust relationships, and only a certain amount of power asymmetry can be endured before inevitably

leading to distrust (Farrell, 2004). In continuing relationships with developed emotional attachments where resources have been invested by both actors, power is less likely to be very asymmetrical, and the relationship is valuable to both. If there is a power difference, the actor with less interest in continuing the relationship possesses more power, since they have less incentive to be trustworthy and to be considerate of the other's interests. On the other hand, since the actor with less power knows the other has no incentive to be trustworthy, neither do they, and such big power differences are likely to result in a mutual distrust (ibid.).

Dyadic embeddedness involves the opportunity for learning about the other's dispositions, motives and intentions, which can be used in order to form and stabilize specific expectations. Repeated interactions have the potential to increase the relationship bandwidth and richness, as well as promoting mutual attachment and shared relational schemata being developed. It can also lead to trust becoming routine action (Endress, 2002).

Network embeddedness involves third parties in relation to both the trustor and trustee. These third parties can be a source of information or means of sanctioning, and allow for reputation mechanisms to be relevant; reputation is important as a source of trust knowledge, as well as social capital for the actors (Coleman, 1988). Third parties use reputation to inform trustors of a trustee with respects to trustworthiness, and can regulate the trustee's behaviour by rewarding or punishing them based on reputation-information within the network (Rompf, 2014). Consequently, failing trust is costlier for the trustee, while the trustor has the option to damage reputation or seek out alternative trustees in the network as a response to untrustworthiness, effectively increasing the trustor's power.

Institutional embeddedness refers to the cultural-normative setting that surround a trust relation. These institutions are a source of trust-related knowledge and structure action (ibid.). Institutions are here understood as socially shared expectations involving sanctions in regard to an obligatory and pre-established rule (Esser, 2000). Examples of institutions are social norms, which are associated to either external or internal negative sanctions. Institutions can create a familiar foundation for trust, as well as structurally protecting trust between unfamiliar individuals. They reduce complexity by giving socially shared information about typical behaviour and action in a social setting. Social roles, for example, enable trust through the expectations that are associated with specific social roles, rather than on any specific information concerning trustee characteristics (Kramer, 1999). As long as the trustor sufficiently perceives and accepts both the trustee's competency and intention to fulfil the expectations of the role, the trustor can decide on a trusting act based on the knowledge of the normative expectations tied to the role (Buskens & Raub, 2008). Note that whether an

institution is effective in encouraging trusting actions depends on the trustors conviction that the institution itself is effective.

Taken together, social embeddedness reduces the risk of trust due to learning and control opportunities. They also reduce uncertainty by providing familiar foundations in the form of institutions, which both actors use to establish a socially shared definition of the situation.

3.4.3 Economics of trust – rational choice theory

Lastly, we have the economic paradigm, or rational choice approach, which focuses on developing a formal specification and causal explanation of trust. Here, trust is considered as a rational decision actors make, based on evaluations of payoff versus risk in order to determine the best way to solve the trust problem, informed by the information, preferences and constraints they are dealing with. While economic models of trust seem very clear and precise, they do not sufficiently explain why trust sometimes can occur irrationally.

The economic approach to trust has been researched extensively (Möllering, 2006a), and connects trust to rational choice theory (Gambetta, 1988; Coleman, 1990; Hardin, 2002). It allows for a very clear formal representation of complex aspects of trust, and emphasizes the aspect of logic behind choices (Kramer, 1999). The basic idea is that actors are rational and utility maximizing, who systematically contemplate whether to perform a trusting act, bounded and guided by their goals, preferences and incentives.

Rational choice theory (RCT) is based on the methodological individualism principle, which holds that any social phenomena must be explained and analysed from an individual perspective (Coleman, 1990; Rompf, 2014). An example is that social norms can be explained as objectively shaping the constraints individuals meet when defining a situation, rather than with respect to compliance with third parties (Rompf, 2014). Further, RCT explanations construct a model of the situation through an abstraction of the essential aspects of a problem, and attempt to establish a causal relationship between the variables. The actions of an individual are assumed to be understandable and intentional, with clear, stable preferences that motivate behaviour, and in order to understand a social process we have to explain it through the rational actions made by individuals (Coleman, 1990).

Two elements are characteristic to the rational choice approach to interpersonal trust. The first is the trustor's trust-related knowledge, which is expressed through their expectations, and the second is the trustee's concrete incentives to fulfil the trust content and be trustworthy (Hardin, 1993). Expectations are important in the sense that while the preferences and intentions

of the trustee are never completely known, the trustor can base an estimate of trustworthiness on their various sources of trust-related knowledge. The general idea is that trustees either rationally uphold or breach trust depending on the costs and benefits associated with either choice (Rompf, 2014).

When considering costs and benefits, relevant elements are social embeddedness (which can provide incentives), trustee characteristics, as well as potential bias through individual disposition and generalized expectations of trust (ibid.). The rational choice perspective describes trust decisions as deliberate and laden with effort, where the trustor carefully considers any relevant incentives the trustee might draw motivation from, in an effort to avoid an outcome of opportunism and exploitation (Möllering, 2006a).

3.5 Interpersonal trust - an integrative framework

Based on all that's been said so far in this chapter, trust needs to be considered from multiple perspectives. I will utilize the interdisciplinary perspective developed by Rompf in order to try to properly integrate all the different aspects of trust. Basically, the subjective experience of trust seems to be the primary reason for why definitions of trust in the literature seems to be confusingly incompatible (Shapiro, 1987). When defining the concept, different authors focus on different phenomenological aspects as well as different sources of trust-related knowledge, which leads to theoretical formulations and empirical results being incomparable (McKnight & Chervany, 1996). Rompf proposes two elements as the missing link which prevents the integration of the different theoretical approaches. The first is interpretation, which is the subjective definition of the situation, and the second is the actor's individual adaptive rationality. The issue stems from that researchers are unclear about what role interpretation plays in trust problems, and that the rational adaptability of the individual is a fundamental dimension of the trust concept. Rompf (2014, p. 378) argues that the idea of dynamic, flexible and adaptive degree of rationality constitutes the common ground which makes room for both rational and non-rational accounts of trust.

In order to properly explain adaptive rationality, Rompf (ibid.) focuses on the process of both interpretation and the subjective definition of a situation, where information processing states function dynamically and adaptively based on the current needs given by the situation as well as trust-related knowledge which is activated based on context. In exploring the concept of adaptive rationality and trust, he uses the Model of Frame Selection (MFS), which conceptualizes trust as the outcome after a process in which frame, script and action are selected. Rompf pairs the different steps of selection with adaptive degrees of rationality at each

selection, starting with the step of interpretation (selection of frame and script), leading to the eventual choice (selection of action). The MFS can functionally relate the determinants of information processing, the mode-selections determine to what degree rationality is involved in interpretation and choice. This is guided by the trustor's natural evaluations of motivation and opportunity, and informed by the available situational cues which warrant the use of existing trust-related knowledge structures.

3.5.1 Adaptive rationality

In order to properly understand how human rationality can be variable and adaptive, Rompf (2014) utilizes the theoretical *dual-process* paradigm, based on a principal assumption that people process information through two different underlying cognitive systems (Kahneman 2003, Evans 2008). Basically, individuals can use both cognitive systems and their associated information-processing strategies flexibly. Explained generally, humans use two different routes or "modes" when processing information which are defined as (1) the "heuristic" automatic mode, whose activation is contingent on whether the situation allows for the application of readily available simple rules and associations, and (2) the "elaborate" rational mode, which requires that the actor has both sufficient levels of motivation and that cognitive capacities are available (Rompf, 2014, p. 166). Smith and DeCoster (2000) describe the automatic mode as a fast, "rough" approach that humans use to effortlessly and efficiently arrive at adequately good answers, and the elaborate mode as a slower approach that involves hard thinking and reasoning to solve a problem, resulting in mental operations that require effort. Illustrating the activation of the automatic mode, they refer to instances where people use rules like "experts are always right" or "the majority is always correct" (ibid., p. 119). If such rules are assessed as sufficient to define the situation, the actor does not need to engage in the elaborate mode, and heuristically relies on rules when engaging in the situation. Smith and DeCoster (2000) claim that the automatic processing mode is what humans use by default, and that they will use it unless circumstances contain something out of the ordinary.

There is considerable agreement on which characteristics define and distinguish the two information-processing modes (Kahneman, 2003). When processing in the automatic mode, authors agree that it is almost effortless, and that its activation does not enter into the individual's focus of attention. This means that such automatic cognitive processing is not intentional or controlled actively by the individual, as the actor relies on simple rules and heuristics when interpreting and subjectively defining the situation, as well as when making a choice (Rompf, 2014). These rules and heuristics are guided by situational cues that are

available, as well as through the actor's routine application of learned schemata, scripts and routines

To understand how these modes work, it is necessary to briefly explain how we create and store memories. Neuropsychological and psychological evidence indicates that humans have evolved and developed two memory systems, due to the need for both slow and fast learning (Sherry & Schachter, 1987). The slow-learning memory system is used to form stable and general representations of the environment's "typical properties", based on experience from many trials (Smith & DeCoster, 2000). We can call these representations *schematic knowledge structures*, or simply *schemata*. Learning in this first memory system occurs as each stimulus is processed, "and involves small, incremental alterations of representations in ways that facilitate repetition of the same processing" (ibid, p. 170). Basically, the schemata we have stored in this system are "updated" when experience in new situations warrant it – we learn which stimuli fit with the representation we have, and develop it over time. These stored schemata are utilized pre-consciously to both process and interpret new stimuli, by filling in incomplete information and categorizing situational cues in the environment (ibid.).

The fast-learning memory system is able to quickly construct new schemata that can connect the different pieces of information about the various aspects of an experience or an object in its context (Wiles & Humphreys, 1993). It involves conscious and explicit recollections of stored knowledge. The fast-learning system is more concerned with irregularities in a situation, stimulus that are unpredicted/unexpected, while the slow-learning system is geared towards regularities and "learns" what is typical and expected (Smith & DeCoster, 2000). It lets us react when we encounter new information in a new situation, when stored knowledge structures cannot adequately be applied.

Smith and DeCoster (2000) argue that the automatic mode is involved with the slow-learning memory system and draws information from it in order to form general expectations based on typical properties of the environment. The automatic (associative) processing mode works by "performing a pattern completion function" (ibid, p. 113), which essentially means that the situation is "scanned" for salient cues that fit the stored schemata, and if associative retrieval of knowledge is possible and there is a sufficient match, the pattern is "completed" which allows for the schemata to be applied successfully in the situation.

The automatic mode then, can be described as "fast, automatic, effortless, associative, and often emotionally charged" (Kahneman, 2003, p. 1451). They are also closely tied to habits, and as a result are difficult to control or modify (ibid.), since associated schemata require repeated experience in order to change. When answers are gotten through the automatic mode

they seem to just "pop into the head" and become part of the stimulus information in the setting, rather than being considered as something the perceiver has evaluated or interpreted on their own (Rompf, 2014, p. 170). Such associative retrieval of knowledge through the automatic mode can greatly influence the judgments and decisions we make, as they have the potential to "colour" how we perceive a situation without us being consciously aware.

The rational mode of information processing is characterized as being conscious, paying select attention to mental content and situational stimuli in the environment (Rompf, 2014). It involves an elaborate, explicit and controlled reasoning process, limited in the amount of information it can handle simultaneously, and is guided by the individual's motivations and goals. It allows us to have cognitive control when processing information, through the use of mechanisms like logical thought, abstraction, planning, inference and decision making (Stanovich, 2004).

The rational mode is related to both memory systems. Schemata stored in the slow memory system can be consciously accessed and rationally compared to knowledge of previous experiences, which can be used to make judgments and decisions in the situation. The fast memory system can be used to rationally connect situational cues together and create a new schema "on the spot" (Smith & DeCoster, 2000). An individual can rationally use available situational information about a trustee to generate specific expectations of trustworthiness, by asking questions like "does he look trustworthy?" or "what incentive does she have to give a trustworthy response?" etc. While the rational mode might be able to give more accurate answers, the caveat is that it is much slower and costly relative to the automatic mode.

Kahneman (2003) found that while judgments and decisions are normally intuitive, they can be modified or overridden by the rational mode. If the situational cues and information that are being processed sufficiently match stored schemata, the automatic mode will activate. The rational mode only activates if the situation warrants its intervention to correct or support the automatic mode's operations (Rompf, 2014).

Such a dual-process approach demonstrates "the notion of human bounded rationality as adaptive, highly flexible, and responsive to situational constraints" (Rompf, 2014, p.173). Connecting this together with trust, this can be used to understand suspension of doubt, use of unconditional or conditional trusting strategies, how institutional trust emerges, and make room for accounts of trust as rational choice. As Rompf (2014) puts it: "these aspects can essentially be answered in terms of the preferential activation of distinct cognitive systems, their information processing state, and the degree of rationality involved in interpretation and the choice of a trusting act" (p. 173).

Determinants

When considering determinants of information processing, researchers have put forward a large number of variables that could be relevant (Chaiken & Trope, 1999). However, most dual-processing models agree that (1) opportunity, and (2) motivation are crucial determinants in the selection of the automatic or rational mode (Smith & DeCoster, 2000). Researchers also emphasize (3) the accessibility and applicability of stored knowledge, as well as how well the stored knowledge matches situational cues, and finally (4) effort-accuracy trade-offs, which involves the efforts and cognitive costs of different processing strategies; this factor is crucial in regard to which decision strategies are employed and what degree of rationality is involved (Payne et al. 1993; Rompf, 2014).

(1) *Opportunity* involves the cognitive resources of an actor, and how these are limited and constrained by situational and individual aspects. Whether a sufficient amount of attentional resources or processing time is available helps determine if the actor has the opportunity to use the rational mode. Considering the situational dimension of opportunity, if the actor finds themselves a situation where a quick behavioural response is necessary, they may not have the actual opportunity to utilize the kind of reasoning and reflection the rational mode provides, despite the fact that they might otherwise have desired to do so (Fazio, 1990).

The cognitive capacity and ability of the actor describe the individual-intrinsic dimension of opportunity (Kruglanski & Thompson 1999). *Cognitive capacity* refers to how much of a "cognitive load" the actor experiences in the situation, and the amount of attentional resources they have available (Shiv & Fedorikhin, 2002). *Ability* refers to general cognitive skills, as well as to what degree actors perceive themselves as effective at processing information. Situations where the actor is simultaneously engaging with several different tasks increases the cognitive load, which limit the amount of cognitive resources available (Rompf, 2014). The accessibility and availability of cognitive resources jointly determine the individual-intrinsic opportunity.

(2) *Motivation* concerns the motivation to actually utilize a controlled mode of information processing. The situational dimension of motivation has subjective and objective aspects; it refers to how the actor subjectively perceives the importance of a task, and the responsibility they have for an outcome (Eagly & Chaiken, 1993). The objective structure of the situation and the stakes involved (what can be gained or lost) are also important in determining situational motivation (Payne et al. 1993). If the actor encounters novel cues in the

situation or is startled and surprised, this can also increase their situational motivation to use more elaborate information processing (Rompf, 2014).

Individual-intrinsic factors of motivation are *need for cognition* (Cacioppo & Petty, 1982), *faith in intuition* (Epstein et a. 1996) and *accuracy-motivation* (Petty & Cacioppo 1986). These factors are relatively stable personality traits, and influence our general tendency to engage in either the rational or automatic mode. Individuals with high levels of faith in their intuition tend to use affect to inform most of their decisions, resulting in quick and spontaneous decisions, while people who generally prefer to deliberate usually make slower and more elaborate decisions based on cognition (Schunk & Betsch, 2006).

Goals and expectations influence motivation. When a desired outcome or goal suggests that systematic reasoning should be used, or when a systematic analysis is promoted by expectations, this can lead to processing in the rational mode (Fiske, 1993; Bargh et al., 2001; Molden & Higgins, 2005). If situational goals do not require accurate decisions they can lessen the need to undergo controlled reasoning and promote the use of the automatic mode.

(3) Accessibility and Applicability: Accessibility concerns how accessible particular knowledge is, how much effort is required to bring it to mind. It depends on the characteristics of the cognitive mechanisms that produce particular thoughts as well as those of the situational stimuli that elicit it (Kahneman, 2003). Higgins (1996) defined accessibility as the activation potential of available knowledge; the more accessible any particular information is, the more likely it is employed to categorize stimulus information. While accessible knowledge always has some potential to be activated, it exists in a somewhat dormant state until activated. This means that the most accessible knowledge in a given moment shape interpretation, the subjective definition of the situation, and decision-making. The temporary accessibility of stored knowledge can be increased through situational cues in the environment that promote its activation; this means that the knowledge comes to mind more easily, and are used when processing information. Chronic accessibility of knowledge means whether knowledge is accessible on more of a general basis and can be used independently of context (Schwarz, 2009).

The applicability of stored knowledge concerns whether it can be applied to understand the information that is perceived (Higgins, 1996). If stored knowledge cannot help us master a situation the situation is likely to appear problematic and warrant an elaborate and systematic analysis in order to properly understand the situation and consider how to approach/deal with it. The higher the *match* between stored knowledge and situational features, the more likely it

is to be activated to understand the situation. If stored knowledge is both highly accessible and matches the situational features, that promotes the activation of the automatic processing mode.

(4) *Effort-accuracy Trade-offs*: The different processing modes and decision strategies are assumed to involve different amounts of mental effort (Rompf, 2014). This results in a trade-off evaluation between the expected necessary effort and the amount of accuracy involved in using the different decision strategies. Rational decision strategies require a tremendous amount of cognitive resources in order to systematically retrieve knowledge from memory, compare alternatives and scrutinize situational cues, but can provide a high level of accuracy (Payne et al., 1993). Heuristic automatic strategies are usually less accurate, but incur far less cognitive costs, while random choices are the least costly and accurate.

Summarizing, both opportunity and motivation are necessary in order to select the rational mode (Chaiken, 1980; Smith & DeCoster, 2000). If either of the conditions are missing, the use of the rational mode is either not feasible or required. The higher the costs of a decision strategy, the higher the accuracy and vice versa. Individuals try to balance out the cognitive costs needed in order to sufficiently satisfy their motivational concerns in a situation (Chen & Chaiken, 1999). The accessibility and applicability of knowledge is also an important determinant. In the automatic mode, individuals process information by relying on the stored knowledge that is most accessible; however, in order for the automatic mode to be activated there also needs to be a sufficient match between stored knowledge and situational cues. If there is a mismatch, motivation to use the rational system increases as long as conditions of opportunity and motivation are met (Fiske et al., 1999).

In terms of interpersonal trust, dual-processing models are valuable as adaptive rationality is demonstrated to be an essential feature of human interaction, which can be taken to mean that it's fundamental as a dimension of trust itself (Rompf, 2014). It can be presumed to be involved in every decision of a trusting act as well as part of every solution to a trust problem (ibid.). Adaptive rationality allows us to understand and explain the different types of trust which seem conflicting, such as calculus-based vs. affect-based trust. However, the actual link between cognition and action has not been formally established in the models of dual-processing, meaning we cannot discern the actual rules of selection related to the definition of the situation, scripts and actions (Mayerl, 2010). Also, while dual-processing models include the importance of context, they don't incorporate the fact that there is always a *socially pre-structured* environment from which perception and choice draw information from. Symbolically structured and socially defined situations are important to action in general and for interpersonal trust to be established in particular (Lewis & Weigert, 1985; Jones & George,

1998). In order to properly understand the social phenomenon of interpersonal trust, the objective social definition of the situation needs to be included as an important variable as well, while still accounting for the importance of adaptive rationality in regard to interpretation and choice (Rompf, 2014).

3.5.2 Model of Frame Selection

The starting point of this model is the idea of a definition and framing of a situation, explaining how an individual defines a situation as a fundamental condition for which actions they have available and are willing to perform (Kroneberg, 2006). It builds upon the Thomas theorem: "if [humans] define a situation as real, it is real in their consequences." (Thomas & Thomas, 1928, p. 572). Action is grounded the subjective beliefs of an actor, and these actions become part of a social reality, despite their possible lack of objective truth. It includes the idea that actors use mental schemata in order to reduce a situation's complexity through categorizing its situational cues into a meaningful whole, abstracting from some cues as being irrelevant (Kroneberg, 2006, p. 4). The mental schemata contain situationally relevant knowledge structures which in the case of interpersonal trust could include specific and generalized expectations, social norms, expectations tied to a role, relational schemata tied to a significant other etc. (Rompf, 2014). An actor's perspective of a particular situation is structured by the totality of activated mental schemata. As a given situation can be interpreted by an individual in many different ways, the term *frame selection* refers to the process of activating a specific frame (Kroneberg, 2006).

Mental schemata can be separated into two classes: *frames* and *scripts* (Rompf, 2014). Frames are mental models of typical situations, referring to socially shared interpretive schemes. These help us understand what kind of situation we find ourselves in, and are usually learned and internalized during socialization in a social or cultural context (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). A subjective definition of a situation through the activation of a frame defines the relevant main goals, and certain "programs of behaviour" are activated. These are the frame's associated *scripts*, containing knowledge of typical sequences of action in typical situations, and involve different kinds of behaviour, values, routines and affective states (Rompf, 2014). Because scripts will always be tied specifically to certain situations, the activation of a script happens after a situation has been defined and *framed*, i.e. a process of frame selection has taken place. The process through which scripts are selected is referred to as *script selection* (Kroneberg, 2006).

Through the activation of frames and scripts, the set of available meaningful sequences of action are limited, simplifying our interpretation process of a situation. Since frames belong

to stored associative knowledge structures and the slow-learning memory system, they are tied to certain situational objects that indicate and signal the appropriateness of a frame in a particular situation (Kroneberg, 2006; Rompf, 2014). Since situational objects contain a socially constructed meaning they are susceptible to change, i.e. through negotiations of meaning (Wimmer, 2002). Frames can be activated in many different ways, such as through conversation or the manners of how an individual is acting. An example is the hospital frame which can contain situational objects such as uniforms and behaviours. Frame and script selection typically follows a "logic of appropriateness" (March & Olsen, 1989), meaning that actors are primarily motivated with decoding situations they find themselves in most accurately and appropriately (Rompf, 2014).

After the frame and script selection, the actor is in a position to consider what course of action to take; this leads to an *action selection* (Kroneberg, 2006). The action selection is what rational choice theories usually focus on, which only considers what an individual actually overtly does in a situation, and not necessarily how they reached that decision (ibid.). By taking into account the selections of frames and scripts, the MFS accounts for the importance of the subjective definition of the situation. Since the activation of frames and scripts narrow down the possible courses of actions in a situation due to forming the preferences and influencing expectancy-formation, the actual choice of action is shaped significantly by the prior processes of interpretation and activation of mental schemata.

All three selections can occur with varying degrees of rationality, meaning in both the automatic or rational modes. Automatic mode selections spring out of the temporary accessibility of mental models (Rompf, 2014). Referring back to Smith and DeCoster's (2000) description of the automatic mode as pattern-completion, the automatic mode is used if a pattern can be "completed" without any irregularities and stored knowledge can be routinely executed.

The *activation weights* of schemata is based on how well particular schemata match a situation and how accessible they are in relation to situational cues and their activation of associative knowledge (ibid.). If we encounter situational cues we can understand intuitively, we will interpret the situation using the most accessible frame, activating the most accessible script, and executing the most accessible course of action, as determined through the selected frame and script (ibid, p. 201). This automatic mode selection-sequence occurs without any deliberate effort or conscious thought.

Automatic mode selections

What are the determinants that influence the activation weight of schemata? An automatic mode frame selection is completely determined by the actor's immediate experience of a *match* between the frames and the given situation. The match of a frame is a function of (1) the mental accessibility of the frame, (2) the presence of situational objects which are significant to the frame and (3) how strong the *associative link* is between the frame and objects (Kroneberg, 2006).

The mental accessibility of the frame can be understood as its *chronic accessibility* (Rompf, 2014), referring to an actor's general disposition to understand situations in a particular manner; it relates directly to socialization, learning and experience, and is generally fairly stable. Present situational objects function as heuristic cues, used to determine both the appropriateness and validity of the frame – it allows the model to include objective-situational variance and show the influence of context on activation weights (ibid.). The associative link refers to how strongly the situational cues are tied to a specific frame and carry symbolic meaning of the situation to the actor, describing the associative strength between a situational object and frame.

If a frame is selected automatically, the frame that best matches the current situation is selected. A general inference that can be made from this is that the more familiar the situation is, the higher the match and activation weights will be (Rompf, 2014). A complete match between frame and situation means that the situational cues can easily be understood by using available knowledge. A low match indicates that the actor is confronted with an unfamiliar situation, which cannot be mastered by the application of routine knowledge. In unfamiliar situations, the frame has a low chronic accessibility and/or the associative strength between the frame and situational cues is weak. This means situational cues cannot be properly decoded even if they are objectively present (ibid.). If a situation is filled with ambiguity where situational cues cannot unambiguously indicate a specific meaning, then the match is low even if chronic accessibility is high and there is a strong associative link between the frames and situational objects.

The activation weight of *scripts* is also dependant on several related elements (Kroneberg, 2006). The chronic accessibility of the script represents the strength of its mental anchoring, such as to what degree certain norms are internalized or the actor is used to particular routines. A highly internalized norm can easily be retrieved as a script which can guide action, as it is chronically accessible to the individual.

The temporary accessibility of a script has two sources which situationally influence the script activation (Rompf, 2014). It is dependent upon the associative strength between the

already selected frame and script – once the situation has been framed in a particular manner, that definition will result in certain knowledge structures becoming either more or less accessible. It's also influenced by the presence of situational objects, which can indicate certain actions as more appropriate.

Lastly, the match between the activated frame and the script. As the accessibility of a script implies, depending on the kind of situation certain actions are more or less expected (Kroneberg 2006). One can then make the assumption that the activation of a script is completely dependent upon how the frame was selected, as the frame defined what kind of situation the actor is in. The clearer the definition of the situation through a script, the more likely a script related to the frame will be activated. If a situation is very familiar to an individual, they are more certain about their interpretation of the situation being valid, leading to them being more confident about the relevant possible courses of action in the situation.

Summarized, automatic mode script selections depend on the experienced match, which involves how the frame was defined in regard to the amount of ambiguity. The script also needs to be associated with a certain frame which indicates its appropriateness, and the script needs to be chronically accessible in the memory of the actor.

The action selection in the automatic mode happens in a situation which has already been defined according to a frame and where a script has been subsequently activated. For an automatic action to be possible, the selected script needs to sufficiently regulate the course of action. While scripts contain information and knowledge about what actions are considered typical and which behaviours are expected in well-known situations, they tend to be open to interpretation and are not necessarily detailed enough to allow for an unambiguous selection of one specific action from a set of possible alternatives (Rompf, 2014). This means that the activation weight is dependent on how strictly the script regulates action. Rompf illustrates this by comparing the relatively open "restaurant" script (what type of behaviour is expected in a restaurant) to the rule-based social norm "do not lie", which is a script that highly regulates action (ibid., p. 204). A second aspect that determines the activation weight of an action is the script's overall activation level; if there is uncertainty in the actor's mind concerning a scripts appropriateness, then it is unlikely that they will respond with an automatic behaviour based on routine. This will be the case even if action is highly regulated by the script, as the actor is not sure whether the script should be applied to the current situation. In other words, in order for an action to be selected routinely, the situation must have an unambiguous subjective definition while the action is also highly regulated by a script.

Rational mode selection of frame, script and action

The logic that informs the selection rules of schemata in the rational mode is not quite the same as in the automatic mode. Selections in the rational mode are characterized by comparison, evaluation, effort and a deliberative reasoning processes (Rompf, 2014). However, as selections are motivated by the actor's intent to appropriately identify the correct alternatives given the circumstances of the situation, selections in this mode do also follow a "logic of appropriateness." Selections in the rational mode resemble choices as defined in rational choice theory (Coleman, 1990); from this perspective, behaviour and choice are viewed as purposive action rooted in subjectively rational considerations, and involves an understanding of actors' primary motivations and purposes for making a choice as being grounded in a maximization of utility (Kroneberg, 2006).

When considering whether a frame is appropriate or not, the actor is mainly concerned with determining whether or not they are acceptable given the situation – actors attempt to systematically analyse the situation as well as identify the objectively matching frame through a process of reasoning (Kroneberg, 2006). Actors form expectations about whether a frame is appropriate, an appropriateness belief, which corresponds closely to the match of the activated frame described in the automatic mode. The difference is that the match is both experienced and perceived as an expectation, rather than a routine, unconscious definition of the situation (ibid.). An important note is that all the elements which can determine a match in the automatic mode have the potential to become problematic when selecting a frame in the rational mode, and thus be scrutinized and undergo an elaborate reasoning process in order to determine their appropriateness (Rompf, 2014). To rationally select a frame, actors consciously evaluate how the situational cues fit available knowledge structures, and as a result consider (1) the importance of relevant situational objects present in the environment, (2) their significance in regard to a specific frame, and (3) how appropriate the particular interpretation is, given the situation. The utility attached to the different possible frames is derived from the utility the actor gains from forming an appropriate perspective of the world, and this is why a rational utility-maximizing actor might be motivated to properly frame a situation (ibid.).

The appropriateness belief of a frame becomes a decisive factor for an actor when rationally defining a situation, as it is indicative of the subjective expected utility in a situation. Continuing to scripts then, how does an actor determine which behaviour is the most appropriate after they have defined the situation they find themselves in? Construction of the appropriateness belief of a script is similar to the corresponding factor for frames: the actor considers whether situational cues are available which are significant for a particular script, and

also whether a script is appropriate given the selected frame. The subjective expected utility plays a role here as well, as a correctly selected script (which thus is appropriate) will yield the best options for behaviour and action in the situation.

Finally, actually selecting an action in the rational mode involves the available alternatives of behaviour and action being consciously and elaborately evaluated in regard to costs, expectations and benefits (Rompf, 2014). Taken together, it becomes apparent that the actual selection of actions becomes structured by the preceding selections of frame and script, and this is true both for automatic and rational selections. Specific knowledge structures are activated by the frame and script in the form of primary goals, values, affective states and sequences of action and the like, which directly influence expectations and utility. After activating, frames and scripts limit the alternative choices that can be considered, which means that they help determine the preferences and individual goal structure of the individual (ibid., p. 206).

The selection rules outlined in the MFS causally connects interpretation and choice in both the automatic and rational mode. It utilizes the valuable insights the dual-processing paradigm provides, while also incorporating the framework of rational choice theory. The model can be used to help explain how we can sometimes see unconditional normative routine in human action, contradicting standard rational choice theory (Rompf, 2014). We can both understand and explain unconditional norm compliance through automatic activation of schemata and the routine execution of scripts. Conversely, if something interrupts our initial interpretation of the situation, or if actions are not sufficiently regulated by scrips, the rational mode is activated where actors perform operations in order to maximize utility. The model can be used to explain how culture shapes preferences (Fehr & Hoff, 2011), and point to the significance of a socialized stock of cultural knowledge concerning typical situations and typical programs of behaviour in relation to individual interpretation and choice (Rompf, 2014). Selections that resemble pure rational choice can be understood as a case where either no intuitive frames are accessible, the situation is interpreted as unfamiliar and important, or when there is sufficient motivation on the part of the actor to override automatic categorizations of information

3.5.3 Definition - trust and adaptive rationality

If we consider the different forms of trust put forward in the literature, such as calculus-based, affect-based and conditional trust, rule-based and institution-based trust, the primary difference between them is the amount of involved rationality (Rompf, 2014). This means that adaptive

rationality is a major component of the trust concept, and that adaptive rationality, individual processing states and their underlying mechanisms are necessary in order to understand trust. By incorporating this perspective, we can understand cases of conditional forms of trust, in which the trustor deals with the trust problem subjectively and contemplates what decision to make, and unconditional forms of trust, where the trustor trusts without doubt or any conscious elaboration (ibid.). We can also explain the interplay between the different types of trust, such as the how social norms and roles work together with trust built in a dyad relationship over time. As such, Rompf's definition of trust, which I will also use, is as follows:

"[Trust is] an actor's definition of the situation that involves the activation of mental schemata sufficient for the generation of a favorable expectation of trustworthiness and the subsequent conditional or unconditional choice of a trusting act." – Rompf (2014, p. 380).

While it is a very general definition, it combines both the psychological and sociological dimensions of trust with the behavioural dimension of choice and action (ibid.) It does not actually demand a specific processing state or directly specify the content of trust-related knowledge. But as Rompf notes, it is impossible to specify a closed set containing "all-encompassing types of trust" (ibid., p. 380). The definition does however allow for us to causally trace the choice of a trusting act back to both rational and automatic means of processing. This can for example be a rational assessment of trustee characteristics or a consideration of effort versus value, or the automatic routine use of trust-related knowledge such as relational schemata, norms and roles. Unconditional cases of trust can be understood as building on the person's specific learning history and socialization, and occurs already at the level of mode selection (ibid.). Expectations of trustworthiness are only rationally accessed in conditional trust – here, the specific situation decides whether trust-related knowledge is relevant, and if that knowledge makes the generation and formation of expectations possible.

4.0 DISCUSSION

4.1 The adolescent's definition of the situation

Let's begin by tying this framework of trust to the adolescent's lives. As previously mentioned, many children within child welfare have experienced challenging experiences and relationships with adults and with the child welfare system (Kayed et al., 2015). Using our understanding of trust and adaptive rationality, we can see how such previous experiences can become stored knowledge and schemata for the adolescents through processes of socialization and learning (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Rumelhart, 1980; Rompf, 2014). This influences how they interpret and act in future situations that are assessed as being sufficiently similar, forming general expectations of trustworthiness (Rotter, 1980; Baldwin, 1992).

If we consider that an adolescent has had mostly negative interactions with adults throughout their lives, this can lead to them subjectively defining situations with *all* adults in a way where trust is unlikely to occur. After framing the situation, the most appropriate script is likely to be selected, based on the match between stored knowledge and available situational cues (Kroneberg, 2006). In our current example, if nothing indicates that there is something out of the ordinary with the situation (follows a pattern of previous negative interactions with adults), then the most appropriate scripts are probably going to contain action sets that make trust unlikely. In an extreme case, a script's contained actions might not involve any opportunity to trust at all, as they have already been ruled out by the selection of the script (Kroneberg, 2006). One way to create opportunities for trust then, is by providing situational cues and experiences which signal that trust is a *possibility*.

McFerran (2010) noted that since adolescents are quick to judge whether an adult is trustworthy (indicative of an automatic selection frame and script), it is important for the music therapist to be *clear, consistent and authentic* in order to initially appear trustworthy. This is also reflected in comments from adolescents participating in a music therapy workshop, where available adults represented stability, continuity and a break from life in child welfare institutions (Krüger et al., 2014). We can interpret this as a means to reduce social uncertainty for the adolescent, and signalling trustworthy characteristics. As previously argued, benevolence, competence, integrity and predictability are important to perceived trustworthiness (Mayer et al., 1995), and emphasizing these might prevent adolescents from automatically defining a situation as distrustful. McFerran's (2010) point of being authentic and consistent can be connected to predictability, since the adolescent can more easily perceive and asses the music therapist's personality and characteristics if they act in a clear and authentic

manner, and so be able to more accurately predict future behaviour. This can potentially strengthen the perceived integrity of the music therapist, which can be used to create expectations of future trustworthiness. McFerran (ibid.) also mentions the importance of genuinely listening to the adolescent, which we can relate to Skjervheim's (1996) definition of "being taken seriously" and to giving importance to the child's voice (Krüger & Stige, 2015). If the music therapist is successful in genuinely listening to the adolescent, this can build up their perceived benevolence (how much the trustee cares about the trustor's welfare), as the adolescent feels that the music therapist is acknowledging their point of view and trying to understand them. A suggestion here is that one can start small where stakes aren't too high, such as with simple getting-to-know-each-other activities (Strandbu et al., 2016). Starting with small and less demanding experiences of successful trust can potentially later develop into more mature, meaningful trust relations (Lewis & Weigert, 1985). Activities can also be an opportunity for the music therapist to demonstrate their competence, that they for example can be trusted to competently lead/support a group discussion or teach a musical instrument.

4.2 Music therapy and roles

We can also consider the impact of the different roles of the music therapist. Krüger (2012) noted that when interviewing adolescents that he had previously worked with in a music workshop, it was commented on how he used a different "language" in his research role, that he spoke differently and more formally to the adolescent than usual. When Krüger asked how he should speak, the adolescent answered that he should "just be himself" (ibid., p. 54). This emphasizes McFerran's (2010) point of presenting oneself as clear, authentic and consistent; by appearing or behaving different, it can be argued that some degree of social uncertainty entered into the situation. In Krüger's example, this was quickly resolved as their already-established trust relationship made it possible to comment on and discuss the discrepancy.

Because music therapists can be symbolic of many different roles, this might provide different opportunities. The music therapist can for example be perceived as a health professional, musician, teacher, mentor, adult, coach, friend etc. Since different roles contain different meanings, certain roles might appear more trustworthy than others (Rompf, 2014). While interaction with someone who the adolescent associates with the role of "child welfare worker" can be unfavourable to trust opportunities due to negative past experiences, interactions with a "musician role" might represent something new, potentially preventing an automatic distrusting interpretation and judging of the situation. The adolescent might associate the musician role with certain values that are in line with their musical and recreational interests,

possibly motivating them to be open to trust (Hardin, 2003). By opening up for interactions, communication and dialogue can occur, in which meanings and opinions can be shared and the actors can get better acquainted. This can provide opportunities to reduce social distance (Hoffman et al., 2008) develop shared mental schemata and specific expectations of trustworthiness.

Recall the music therapist's role as a potential "mesoagent" (Mandal & Bergset, 2016). For this to be possible, a trusting relationship needs to be established between the adolescent and music therapist, providing the adolescent with a sense of confidence and security (Burke & Stets, 1999). This relationship can be used to improve the overall connectedness between the adolescent's different networks; being situated in several of the different systems surrounding the adolescent, the music therapist *themselves* might be considered as a situational cue the adolescent can draw confidence from, which can promote interactions of trust with others. The presence of the music therapist in the situation can lead to the selection of trust-promoting frames, scripts and actions in interactions with others in the situation, opening up for communication and dialogue which can establish or re-negotiate relationships both between the adolescent and different parts of their network, and between the different parts themselves.

The music therapy workshop with peers can also provide adolescents with a different "atmosphere" than usual, where they feel more relaxed and able to be themselves (Krüger et al., 2014). The adolescents are allowed to feel sad without having to explain why; instead of being probed with questions about how they feel and pushed to do something in order to feel better, the adolescents can just be accepted *as they are*, countering the common normative pressure to always be happy and strive for perfection. This involves treating the adolescents as equals characterized by trust and acceptance. They can be trusted to bring up things if they want to, indicating that they are being taken seriously and maintaining a power balance between the adults and adolescents in the setting. This leads to the development of schemata and scripts related to a notion that it is "okay to be who you are", based on experiences that let you trust that who you are is *good enough* and *valuable* in social interactions.

4.3 Musical activities, objects and trust

The importance of musical objects as a source of trust has already been hinted at. Mandal and Bergset (2016) mentioned that music can be useful in emotion-regulation, and that written songs can be used as containers for difficult experiences and feelings. The song-writing activity can be interpreted as a setting where norms and values make sharing and expressing thoughts easier, because we encounter music in our everyday lives that commonly contain stories or

descriptions, meaning that we are used to them carrying such information. It feels *appropriate* and ordinary to write song lyrics related to stories and experiences, because it is so typical in musical culture (Ruud, 1997). This doesn't mean that is necessarily *easy* to write songs. But such norms and values inherent in songs and song-writing can be a starting point for developing a relationship with the music therapist, assuming that the adolescent is motivated and interested in actually writing a song.

If repeated experiences of song-writing with the music therapist are successful, this leads to the development of new schemata related to the belief that songs are appropriate for expressing and regulating thoughts and feelings, and the development of specific relational schemata with the music therapist that favour expectations of trustworthiness. This is because through repeated interaction the actors can get to know one another and create specific knowledge structures containing information about the others' trustworthiness (Endress, 2002). This also relates to Kenny's (1989) "field of play", in which shared musical experiences can result in trust; the musical framing of the situation can make different actions and means of communication available (Rompf, 2014), and create a setting where a dialogue between the actors' musical identities can build trust.

The musical objects, which can also be instruments, can be used as something the adolescent can trust and use as support in interactions with others. They can symbolize something familiar in the situation, which can be used to reduce social uncertainty (Rompf, 2014). For example, by orientating the music therapy session around a guitar, the adolescent and music therapist interact specifically around the guitar as a topic. This provides a predictability in the content of the social interaction and trust relation, where meanings can be negotiated and explored, rooted in the guitar. For instance, the dyad can discuss how they each find the instrument important and interesting to them, as equal individuals who both invest personal resources in the relationship rather than a one-way therapist-client interaction where the therapist "knows" why the instrument should be important to the adolescent and tries to explain the meaning in the adolescent's relationship with the guitar. The instrument can be used as a setting where the actors' values and personalities can meet in dialogue and constitute the beginnings of a relational bond. As the sessions develop, the actors might start playing together and explore the dynamics of their particular relationship and musicalities. As such, their dyadic embeddedness situated around the guitar can be used to form and stabilize specific expectations regarding each other and promote the development of relational schemata and mutual attachment (Endress, 2002). The "guitar" in the above example can just as well be replaced with specific songs, or even non-musical interests.

4.4 Trust in redefining power structures

Concrete musical objects and settings can contain meaning which the adolescents can use as a resource in several ways (Ruud, 2013; Strandbu et al., 2016; Smetana, 2017). The musical objects or setting and their meaning can be shared and conveyed to others, such as in the performance of the music theatre (Strandbu et al., 2016), and be used to bridge networks, build relationships and develop identities challenge power structures. In the example of the music theatre, the adults and adolescents come together to create a collaboratively defined collective, in which the institutional structures are developed together. This means that the adolescents have power and can use their voice in dialogue with the other participants to help shape the setting to their needs and interests by collectively determining the goals, rules and social norms of the group. As these developed schemata of the music theatre are shared by participants, these institutional structures can be relied on when choosing to trust in the music theatre (Luhmann, 1979; Lindenberg, 1992). The participants can reach agreements on what is needed in order to reach the group's goals, and help motivate each other to act according to the agreements, which helps maintain the validity of the institutional structures and make institutional trust feasible. As the group and its structures (the schemata) become more familiar and known to the participants, trust has the potential to be routinely executed (Schütz & Luckmann, 1973). In other words, the participants have developed shared frames and scripts by socializing in the same setting, which involve shared values and goals. This can lead to the situation being defined as one where knowledge structures involving trust are easily accessible, and therefore are likely to be used to categorize situational cues in the setting (Higgins, 1996). This works mutually alongside the relational trust the participants can build towards one another through group interactions (Rompf, 2014). As the relationships develop through repeated interactions over time, the participants can move towards more affect- and identification-based trust (Lewicki et al. 2006).

Music therapy can also include actors from other parts of the adolescents' social network, such as relatives, friends and child welfare workers. As described earlier, these are actors that adolescents in child welfare sometimes experience difficult relationships with (Krüger 2012; Kayed et al. 2015). By inviting them to participate in the musical context, interactions between the actors can be framed differently than usual, rooted in the schemata related to the music therapy setting. This allows for strong trust relationships to increase their relationship bandwidth and richness (Lewicki et al., 1998), while strained relationships between actors can have a chance to be re-negotiated in a setting with new situational components that can potentially foster trust. If verbal communication has been challenging, a communication

through musical elements can allow for interests and experiences to be shared in a new light, potentially developing deeper understanding between the actors and laying the groundwork for trust to be built, as the actors can gain more knowledge about each other. If interactions are successful in the context of music therapy, this can help create new expectations of trustworthiness in regard to the other actors, which can be utilized to develop the relationship between the actors in different contexts (Rompf, 2014).

Similar to the generalized expectation proposed earlier where "all adults in the child welfare systems are untrustworthy based on previous experience", we can assume that an opposite expectation can be true as well. if the music therapy is part of a child welfare measure, we can consider that it can help build trust in the child welfare system. Positive experiences of trust in the music therapy setting has the potential to give the adolescents new stored knowledge regarding adults in the child welfare system. This can start with the music therapist, and extend to other adults which can be invited to take part in the music therapy in some manner, e.g. as equal participants or audience members. In the example of the music theatre, the presence of child welfare workers and other adults in the audience can symbolize a willingness to listen to and acknowledge the adolescent's voice, and an attempt to understand their life experiences. These might be sides of the adults which the adolescents have not subjectively experienced before, and can be indicative of their trustworthiness; "They do actually make an effort to understand me, they've come to listen to me and my performance!". Power can be shifted, where the adolescents are in the spotlight and share important messages to the child welfare workers. If the adults then follow-up on the adolescents expressed thoughts and feelings, engage in dialogue and take their perspective seriously, this can be used as a starting point to develop positive, respectful trust relations with new opportunities for relating.

4.5 Implications of understanding trust

Developing insights into how trust concretely can be built and relied on as a resource can help determine how to best use music therapy with the specific adolescent, and increase the likelihood of achieving goals. As trust can lead to openness, the adolescents might feel more comfortable sharing their voice, promoting dialogue. A deeper understanding of how musical objects can be a resource for trust can be useful for the adolescents outside of the music therapy sessions. Understanding trust can also promote opportunities to trust relationships with significant others' in the adolescents lives. It seems necessary however, for further research to actually ask adolescents about trust, and include them in defining the values of trust, since

general theorising can only go so far (Follesø, 2006) and, as I have argued, it is important for the child's voice to be heard.

I need to emphasize that trust does not *equal* participation in music therapy. Music therapy isn't always interesting or necessary for the adolescent, and the aim of music therapy should not be to build trust in order to *keep the adolescents in therapy for an indefinite amount of time*. It is important to help them realize their own strengths and resources and be able to navigate their own lives with confidence. And so, it is important for the music therapist to *trust the adolescents*, in that they know best when to leave therapy, for whatever reason. If a strong, trusting relationship has been developed then hopefully it will be possible to speak more openly to one another about such topics.

5.0 CONCLUSION

This thesis has explored trust in music therapy in child welfare, and presented a broad theoretical framework of trust as a means to do this. I have argued that trust can be built and used as a resource in many different ways, with implications to both the music therapy itself and the adolescents lives outside of music therapy. To conclude, I'll begin by revisiting the research questions and see how these can be answered based on the insights above.

1) How has trust been understood in music therapy with adolescents?

The music therapy literature presented has considered trust as a necessary component of music therapy, but has not necessarily explained how trust is concretely built. The importance of a trust relationship with the music therapist has been related to opening up possibilities for activities and interaction. Musical activities have been considered as a unique setting to build trust and interact with one another. It has also been argued that musical objects in themselves can provide a basis for trust, which the adolescents can use as a resource in social interactions and in dealing with difficult experiences.

The literature suggests that a clear, consistent and authentic presentation of the music therapist is conducive to building trust. It can give the impression of predictability and that the adolescents are taken seriously and genuinely listening to, promoting expectations of trustworthiness.

2) How can trust as a mental phenomenon broadly be understood?

Trust as a mental phenomenon can broadly be understood as multidisciplinary, with psychological, sociological and economic dimensions. By focusing on understanding the influence of interpretation and considering adaptive rationality a fundamental dimension of the trust concept, different types of trust from the research traditions can be understood and causally explained. In order to do this, the following definition of trust was used:

"Trust is an actor's definition of the situation that involves the activation of mental schemata sufficient for the generation of a favorable expectation of trustworthiness and the subsequent conditional or unconditional choice of a trusting act." (Rompf, 2014, p. 380)

Mental schemata are knowledge structures that contain past experiences of socialization and learning, which help the actor interpret, define and act in a situation. These can be applied

automatically if the situational cues match the stored knowledge, but may need to be considered rationally if the situation is unfamiliar and contains something the actor isn't used to.

3) How can trust be built in music therapy in Norwegian child welfare?

One way trust can be built in music therapy in child welfare through repeated collaborative interactions in a musical setting, where the actors are considered as equals and their voice and perspectives are respected and participation promoted. It is important that the music therapist is clear, consistent and authentic, as it provides adolescents with a sense of predictability that can be used as a starting point for a trust relation. Music therapy can provide situational cues relevant to knowledge structures associated with trust, such as by focusing on a shared interest in musical objects or providing unambiguous courses of action such as practicing instruments, reducing social uncertainty. In groups, trust can be built by the participants collaboratively deciding the institutional structure of the group, creating shared schemata related to group goals, values, roles and social norms. Institutional trust can be used as a starting point to develop trusting relational schema based on repeated interactions and shared interests, potentially leading to affect and identification-based trust. By inviting people from other parts of the adolescents' networks to take part in the music therapy, the musical setting can function as a new arena for the development of the trust relations between them. The context can influence how the actors interpret the social interaction, and help prevent automatic distrustful interpretations and judgments. By opening up for communication and dialogue, powerstructures can be disputed, and create new trust opportunities with adults the adolescents have previously tended to distrust.

Study limitations

This thesis has only focused on a limited part of specific theoretical perspectives to music therapy with adolescents, meaning the findings are relatively specific and thus its validity in other approaches is unclear. Further, the selected literature and how it has been interpreted can be considered to have been influenced by my preunderstanding, meaning that other authors exploring the topic might reach different conclusions. My decision to use a broad, universal framework of the mental phenomena of trust can also be criticized, as I could have opted to define it more specifically following disciplinary borders which might have made it easier to understand specific points. Nevertheless, my hope is that by using such a definition the findings can provide unique insights and be comparable with findings in other trust research.

References

- Aigen, K. (2005). Philosophical Inquiry. In B. Wheeler (Ed.), *Music Therapy Research* (Second Edition). Gilsum, NH: Barcelona Publishers.
- Alvesson, M. & Sköldberg, K. (2009). *Reflexive Methodology New Vistas for Qualitative Research* (2nd edition). London: SAGE.
- Andersen, S. M. & Chen, S. (2002). The Relational Self: An Interpersonal-Cognitive Theory. *Psychological Review, 109*(4), 619-645. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.109.4.619
- Ansdell, G. & Stige, B. (2016). Community Music Therapy. In J. Edwards (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Music Therapy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199639755.013.6
- Baldwin, M. W. (1992). Relational Schemas and the Processing of Social Information. *Psychological Bulletin*, 112(3), 461-484. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.112.3.461
- Bargh, J. A., Gollwitzer, P. M., Lee-Chai, A., Barndollar, K. & Trotschel, R. (2001). The Automated Will: Nonconscious Activation and Pursuit of Behavioral Goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 81(6), 1014-1027. doi:10.1037//0022-3514.81.6.1014
- Berger, P. L. & Luckmann, T. (1966). *The Social Construction of Reality A treatise in the Sociology of Knowledge*. London: Penguin Group.
- Bigley, G. A. & Pearce, J. L. (1998). Straining for Shared Meaning in Organization Science: Problems of Trust and Distrust. *The Academy of Management Review, 23*(3), 405-421. doi:10.5465/AMR.1998.926618
- Blau, P. M. (1964). Exchange and Power in Social Life. New York: Wiley.
- Bless, H., & Fiedler K. (2006). Mood and the Regulation of Information Processing and Behavior. In J. P. Forgas (Ed.), *Hearts and Minds: Affective Influences on Social Cognition and Behavior* (65-84). New York: Psychology Press.
- Ben-Ner, A. & Putterman, L. (2009). Trust, Communication and Contracts: An Experiment. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 70(1), 106-121. doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2009.01.011
- Bicchieri, C. (2002). Covenants without Swords: Group Identity, Norms, and Communication in Social Dilemmas. *Rationality and Society, 14*(2), 192-228. doi:10.1177/1043463102014002003
- Boal, A. (1979). The Theatre of the Oppressed. New York: Urizen Books.
- Bohnet, I. & Baytelman, Y. (2007). Institutions and Trust: Implications for Preferences, Beliefs, and Behavior. *Rationality and Society*, 19(1), 99-135. doi:10.1177/1043463107075110
- Bowlby, J. M. (1969). Attachment and Loss Vol. 1 Attachment. New York: Basic Books.

- Breckler, S. J. (1984). Empirical Validation of Affect, Behavior and Cognition as Distinct Components of Attitude. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 47*(6), 1191-1205. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.47.6.1191
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The Ecology of Human Development. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Bruscia, K. (2005). Developing Theory. In B. Wheeler (Ed.), *Music Therapy Research* (Second Edition). Gilsum, NH: Barcelona Publishers.
- Burke, P. J. & Stets, J. E. (1999). Trust and Commitment through Self-Verification. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, *62*(4), 347-366. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2695833
- Burt, R. S. (2003). Trust, Reputation, and Competitive Advantage. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Buskens, V. (1998). The Social Structure of Trust. *Social Networks*, 20(3), 265-289. doi:10.1016/S0378-8733(98)00005-7
- Buskens, V. & Raub, W. (2008). Rational Choice Research on Social Dilemmas: Embeddedness Effects on Trust. In R. Wittek, T. A. B. Snijders & V. Nee (Eds.), *Handbook of Rational Choice Research* (1-44). New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Cacioppo, J. T. & Petty R. E. (1982) The Need for Cognition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 42(1), 116-131.
- Chaiken, S. (1980). Heuristic versus Systematic Information Processing and the Use of Source Versus Message Cues in Persuasion. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 39*(5), 752-766. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.39.5.752.
- Chaiken, S. & Stangor, C. (1987). Attitudes and Attitude Change. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *38*, 575-630. doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.38.020187.003043
- Chaiken, S. & Trope, Y. (1999). *Dual-Process Theories in Social Psychology*. New York, London: The Guilford Press.
- Charness, G. & Dufwenberg, M. (2006). Promises and Partnership. *Econometrica*, 74(6), 1579-1601. doi:10.2139/ssrn.380083
- Chen, C. C. & Chaiken, S. (1999). The Heuristic-Systematic Model in its Broader Context. In S. Chaiken & Y. Trope (Eds.), *Dual-Process Theories in Social Psychology* (73-96). New York, London: Guilford Press.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital. *The American Journal of Sociology 94*, Supplement: Organizations and Institutions: Sociological and Economic Approaches to the Analysis of Social Structure, 95-120. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2780243

- Coleman, J. S. (1990). *Foundations of Social Theory*. Cambridge, MA; London, England: Harvard University Press.
- Crotty, M. (1998). *The Foundations of Social Research Meaning and Perspective in the Research Process*. London: Sage Publications.
- Curtis, S., & Vaillancourt, G. (2012). The Children's Right to Music Project. *Voices: A World Forum* for Music Therapy, 12(3). doi:10.15845/voices.v12i3.676
- D'Andrade, R. G. (1995). *The Development of Cognitive Anthropology*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Dasgupta, P. (1988). Trust as a Commodity. In D. Gambetta (Ed.), *Trust: Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations*, (49-72). Oxford, New York: Blackwell Publishing.
- DeNeve, K. M. & Cooper, H. (1998). The Happy Personality: A Meta-Analysis of 137 Personality Traits and Subjective Well-Being. *Psychological Bulletin*, *124*(2), 197-229. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.124.2.197
- Deutsch, M. (1958). Trust and Suspicion. *The Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *2*(4), 265-279. doi:10.1177/002200275800200401
- Deutsch, M. (1960). Trust, Trustworthiness and the F-Scale. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 61(1), 138-140. doi:10.1037/h0046501
- Dunn, J. R. & Schweitzer, M. E. (2005). Feeling and Believing: The Influence of Emotion on Trust. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(5), 736-748. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.88.5.736
- Eagly, A. H. & Chaiken. S. (1993). *The Psychology of Attitudes*. Orlando, FL: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College.
- Endress, M. (2002). Vertrauen [Trust]. Bielefeld: transcript.
- Epstein, R. (2007). *The Case Against Adolescence: Rediscovering the Adult in Every Teen.* Sanger, CA: Quill Driver Books.
- Epstein, S., Pacini, R., Denes-Raj, V. & Heier, H. (1996). Individual Differences in Intuitive-Experiential and Analytical-Rational Thinking Styles. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71(2), 390-405. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.71.2.390
- Erikson, E. H. (1950). Childhood and Society. New York: Norton.
- Erikson. E. H. (1968). *Identity: Youth and Crisis*. New York: Norton.
- Esser, H. (2000). Soziologie Spezielle Grundlagen. Band 5: Institutionen [Sociology Special Foundations. Vol. 5 Institutions]. Frankfurt a. Main (a.o.): Campus.

- Evans, J. S. (2008). Dual-Processing Accounts of Reasoning, Judgment, and Social Cognition. *Annual Review of Psychology, 59*, 255-278. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093629
- Farrell, H. (2004). Trust, Distrust, and Power. In R. Hardin (Ed.), *Distrust* (85-105). New York: Russel Sage Foundations.
- Fazio, R. H. (1990). Multiple Processes by which Attitudes Guide Behavior: the MODE Model as an Integrative Framework. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* 23, 75-109. doi:10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60318-4
- Fehr, E. & Hoff, K. (2011). Tastes, Castes, and Culture: The Influence of Society on Preferences. In *IZA Discussion Paper Series*, No. 5919. Institute for the Study of Labor. Germany, Bonn: IZA
- Fiske, S. T. (1993). Controlling other people: The impact of power on stereotyping. *American Psychologist*, 48(6), 621-628. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.48.6.621
- Fiske, S. T. (2004). *Social Beings: A Core Motives Approach to Social Psychology*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Fiske, S. T., Lin, M. & Neuberg, S. L. (1999). The Continuum Model Ten Years Later. In S. Chaiken & Y. Trope (Eds.), *Dual-Process Theories in Social Psychology* (231-254). New York, London: Guilford Press.
- Follesø, R. (Ed.) (2006). Sammen om barnevern: Enestående fortellinger, felles utfordringer [Together about child welfare: Unique stories, shared challenges]. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Forgas, J. P., & East, R. (2008). On Being Happy and Gullible: Mood Effects on Skepticism and the Detection of Deception. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 44(5), 1362-1367. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2008.04.010
- Freire, P. (1970/2005). *Pedagogy of the oppressed*. London: The Continuum International.
- Gadamer, H. G. (1976/2008). Philosophical hermeneutics. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Gambetta, D. (1988). Can We Trust Trust? In D. Gambetta (Ed.), *Trust Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations* (213-237). New York: Basil Blackwell
- Giddens, A. (1990). *The Consequences of Modernity*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Gigerenzer, G. & Gaissmaier, W. (2011). Heuristic Decision Making. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62, 451-482. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-120709-145346
- Gill, H., Boies, K., Finegan J. E., & McNally, J. (2005). Antecedents Of Trust: Establishing A Boundary Condition For The Relation Between Propensity To Trust And Intention To Trust. *Journal of Business and Psychology 19*(3), 287-302. doi:10.1007/s10869-004-2229-8

- Granovetter, M. (1985). Economic Action and Social Structure: The Problem of Embeddedness. *The American Journal of Sociology*, *91*(3), 481-510. doi:10.1086/228311
- Greenwald, A. G. & Pratkanis, A. R. (1984). The Self. In R. S. Wyer & T. K Srull (Eds.), *Handbook of Social Cognition* (129-178). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Habermas, T. (1999). *Geliebte Objekte: Symbole und Instrumente der Identitätsbildung* [Beloved Objects: Symbols and Instruments of Identity Formation]. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Hardin, R. (1993). The Street-Level Epistemology of Trust. *Politics & Society, 21*(4), 505-529. doi:10.1177/0032329293021004006
- Hardin, R. (2001). Conceptions and Explanations of Trust. In K. S. Cook (Ed.), *Trust in Society* (3-39). New York: Russel Sage Foundation
- Hardin, R. (2002). Trust and Trustworthiness. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Heidegger, M. (1927/1996). Being and time. New York: State University of New York Press.
- Heimer, C. A. (2001). Solving the Problem of Trust. In K. S. Cook (Ed.), *Trust and Society* (40-87). New York: Russel Sage Foundation.
- Helliwell, J. F. & Putnam, R. D. (2004). The Social Context of Well-Being. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society London*, 359, 1435-1446. doi:10.1098/rstb.2004.1522
- Higgins, E. T. (1996). Knowledge Activation: Accessibility, Applicability, and Salience. In E. T.
 Higgins & A. Kruglanski (Eds.), *Social Psychology Handbook of Basic Principles* (133-168). New York: Guilford Press.
- Hill, C. & O'Hara, E. A. (2006). A Cognitive Theory of Trust. *Washington University Law Review* 84(7), 1717-1796. doi:10.2139/ssrn.869423
- Hoffman, E., McCabe, K., & Smith, V. L. (2008). Social Distance and Reciprocity in Dictator Games. In C. R. Plott & V. L. Smith (Eds.), *Handbook of Experimental Economics Results, Vol. 1* (411-415). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Holmes, J. G. (1991). Trust and the Appraisal Process in Close Relationships. In W. H. Jones & D. Perlman (Eds.), *Advances in Personal Relationships, Vol. 2* (57-104). Oxford, England: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Hosmer, L. T. (1995). The Connecting Link Between Organizational Theory and Philosophical Ethics. *The Academy of Management Review*, *20*(2), 379-403. doi:10.5465/AMR.1995.9507312923
- Jones, G. R. & George, J. M. (1998). The Experience and Evolution of Trust: Implications for Cooperation and Teamwork. *The Academy of Management Review*, 23(3), 531-546. doi:10.5465/AMR.1998.926625

- Kahneman, D. (2003). A Perspective on Judgment and Choice. *American Psychologist*, *58*(9), 697-720. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.58.9.697
- Kayed, N. S., Jozefiak, T., Rimehaug, T., Tjelflaat, T. Brubakk, A. M. & Wichstrøm, L. (2015). Resultater fra forskningsprosjektet Psykisk helse hos barn og unge i barnevernsinstitusjoner [Results from the research project Mental health of children and adolescents in child welfare institutions]. Regionalt kunnskapssenter for barn og unge - Psykisk helse og barnevern, NTNU.
- Kenny, C. B. (1989). The field of play. St. Louis, MO: MMB Music, Inc.
- Kramer, R. (1999). Trust and Distrust in Organizations: Emerging Perspectives, Enduring Questions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *50*, 569-598. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.50.1.569
- Kramer, R. (2006). Trust as Situated Cognition: An Ecological Perspective on Trust Decisions. In R. Bachmann & A. Zaheer (Eds.), *Handbook of Trust Research* (68-83). Cheltenham, UK; Northampton, USA: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Krüger, V. (2012). Musikk fortelling fellesskap, en kvalitativ undersøkelse av ungdommers perspektiver på deltakelse i samfunnsmusikkterapeutisk praksis i barnevernsarbeid [Music narrative community, a qualitative study of adolescent's perspectives on participation in a community music therapy practice in child welfare]. Bergen: Doctoral thesis, Grieg Academy, University of Bergen
- Krüger, V., Bolstad, N. & Stige, B. (2016). Hvordan og hvorfor utvikle musikkterapi i barnevernet? Om tjenesteutvikling og forskning som samspillende sosiale praksiser [How and why develop music therapy in child welfare? About service development and research about interacting social practices]. *Norges Barnevern*, *93*(3-4), 322-338. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget. doi:18261/issn.18911838-2016-03-04-14
- Krüger, V. & Stige, B. (2013). Perspektiv på musikkterapi i barnevernet Musikk som ressurs for å fremme barn og unges deltagelse. [Perspective on music therapy in child welfare Music as a resource to promote children's and adolescents' participation.] *Norges Barnevern, 90*(2), 110-124. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Krüger, V. & Stige, B. (2015). Between rights and realities music as a structuring resource in child welfare everyday life: a qualitative study. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, *24*(2), 99-122. doi:10.1080/08098131.2014.890242
- Krüger, V., Strandbu, A. & Stige, B. (2014). Musikkterapi som ettervernstiltak i barnevernet deltakelse og jevnalderfellesskap. [Music Therapy as aftercare in child welfare participation and peer fellowship.] *Norges Barnevern, 91*(2-3), 78-93. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

- Krüger, V. & Strandbu, A. (2015). *Musikk, ungdom, deltagelse musikk i forebyggende arbeid* [Music, adolescence, participation music in preventive work]. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Kruglanski, A. W. & Thompson, E. P. (1999). Persuasion by a Single Route: A View From the Unimodel. *Psychological Inquiry*, *10*(2), 83-109. doi:10.1207/S15327965PL100201
- Lahno, B. (2001). On the Emotional Character of Trust. *Ethical Theory and Moral Practice*, 4(2), 171-189. doi:10.1023/A:1011425102875
- Lahno, B. (2002). *Der Begriff des Vertrauens*. [The Concept of Trust.] Paderborn, Germany: Mentis.
- Lewicki, R. J. & Bunker, B. B. (1995). Developing and Maintaining Trust in Work Relationships. In R. M. Kramer & T. R. Tyler (Eds.), *Trust in Organizations: Frontiers of Theory and Research* (114-139). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Kroneberg, C. (2006). The Definition of the Situation and Variable Rationality: The Model of Frame Selection as a General Theory of Action. In *Working Paper Series*, *06-05*.

 Sonderforschungsbereich 504, University of Mannheim.
- Lewicki, R. J., McAllister, D. J. & Bies, R. J. (1998). Trust and Distrust: New Relationships and Realities. *Academy of Management Review*, *23*(3), 438-458. doi:10.2307/259288
- Lewicki, R. J., Tomlinson, E. C. & Gillespie, N. (2006). Models of Interpersonal Trust Development: Theoretical Approaches, Empirical Evidence, and Future Directions. *Journal of Management*, 32(6), 991-1022. doi:10.1177/0149206306294405
- Lewis, J. D. & Weigert, A. J. (1985). Trust as Social Reality. *Social Forces*, 63(4), 967-985. doi:10.2307/2578601
- Lindenberg, S. (1992). The Method of Decreasing Abstraction. In J. S. Coleman & T. J. Farao (Eds.), *Rational Choice Theory – Advocacy and Critique* (3-20). Newbury Park (a.o.): SAGE.
- Lount, R. B. Jr. (2010) The impact of positive mood on trust in interpersonal and intergroup interactions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *98*(3), 420-433. doi:10.1037/a0017344
- Luhmann, N. (1979). Trust and Power. Chichester (a.o.): John Wiley & Sons.
- Luhmann, N. (1988). Familiarity, Confidence, Trust: Problems and Alternatives. In D. Gambetta (Ed.), *Trust: Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations* (94-107). New York: Blackwell.
- Luhmann, N. (2000). *Vertrauen Ein Mechanismus zur Reduktion sozialer Komplexität* [Trust A mechanism for reducing social complexity] (4th edition). Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.
- Løgstrup, K. E. (1956/1991). *Den etiske fordring* [The ethical demand]. Copenhagen: Gyldendal. Norwegian edition (1999), J.W. Cappelens Forlag a/s

- Mandal, A. B. & Bergset, L. J. (2016). Musikkterapi for å skape samanheng i fosterbarn sine nettverk. [Music therapy to create a connection between the networks of a child in foster care.] In K. Stensæth, V. Krüger & S. Fuglestad (Eds.), *I transitt mellom til og fra: Om musikk og deltagelse i barnevern* (143-156). Anthology published by Center for Research in Music and Health. Oslo: Norwegian Academy of Music.
- Maier, V. E. (2009). *The Role of Emotion in Leader Trust Processes*. St. Gallen: University of St. Gallen.
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, D. F. (1995). An Integrative Model of Organizational Trust. *The Academy of Management Review*, *20*(3), 709-734. doi:10.5465/AMR.1995.9508080335
- McKnight, H. D. & Chervany, N. L. (1996). The Meanings of Trust. *Carlson School of Management Working Paper, No. 96-04*. University of Minnesota.
- McKnight, H. D., Cummings, L. L. & Chervany, N. L. (1998). Initial Trust Formation in New Organizational Relationships. *Academy of Management Review*, *23*(3), 473-490. doi:10.5465/AMR.1998.926622
- Malhotra, D. & Murnighan, J. K. (2002). The Effects of Contracts on Interpersonal Trust. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 47(3), 534-559. doi:10.2307/3094850
- March, J. G. & Olsen, J. P. (1989). *Rediscovering Institutions: The Organizational Basis of Politics*. New York: Free Press.
- Mayerl, J. (2010). The Low-Cost Hypothesis is Not Enough An Empirical Test of Variants of the Model of Frame-Selection for Improving the Prediction of the Influence of Attitudes on Behavior. *Zeitschrift für Soziologie*, *39*(1), 38-59. doi: http://10.1515/zfsoz-2010-0103
- McAllister, D. J. (1995). Affect- and Cognition-Based Trust as Foundations for Interpersonal Cooperation in Organizations. *Academy of Management Journal*, *38*(1), 24-59. doi:10.2307/256727
- McFerran, K. (2010). Adolescents, Music and Music Therapy: Methods and Techniques for Clinicians, Educators and Students. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers
- Mishra, A. K. (1996). Organizational Responses to Crisis: The Centrality of Trust. In R. M. Kramer & T. R. Tyler (Eds.), *Trust in Organizations: Frontiers of Theory and Research* (261-287). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Misztal, B. A. (1996). Trust in Modern Societies. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Misztal, B. A. (2001). Normality and Trust in Goffman's Theory of Interaction Order. *Sociological Theory*, 19(3), 312-324. doi:10.1111/0735-2751.00143

- Molden, D. C. & Higgins, E. T. (2005). Motivated Thinking. In K. Holyoak & B. Morrison (Eds.), The Cambridge Handbook of Thinking and Reasoning (295-317). New York: Guilford Press.
- Möllering, G. (2001). The Nature of Trust: From Georg Simmel to a Theory of Expectation, Interpretation and Suspension. *Sociology*, *35*(2), 403-420. doi:10.1177/S0038038501000190
- Möllering, G. (2006a). Trust, Institutions, Agency: Towards a Neoinstitutional Theory of Trust. In R. Bachmann & A. Zaheer (Eds.) *Handbook of Trust Research* (355-376). Cheltenham, UK; Northampton, USA: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Möllering, G. (2006b). Trust: Reason, Routine, Reflexivity. Amsterdam (a.o.): Elsevier.
- Murphy, K., & Wheeler, B. L. (2016). *Music Therapy Research*. Dallas, TX: Barcelona Publishers.
- Payne, J. W., Bettman, J. R. & Johnson, E. J. (1993). *The Adaptive Decision Maker*. Cambridge, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Petty, R. E., & Cacioppo, J. T. (1986). The Elaboration Likelihood Model of Persuasion. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 19, 123-205. doi:10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60214-2
- Phelps, E. A. (2006). Emotion and Cognition: Insights from Studies of the Human Amygdala. *Annual Review of Psychology, 57*, 27-53. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.56.091103.070234
- Pine, D. S. & Cohen, J. A. (2002). Trauma in children and adolescents: risk and treatment of psychiatric sequelae. *Biological Psychiatry*, *51*(7), 519-531. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01352-X
- Rempel, J. K., Holmes, J. G. & Zanna, M. P. (1985). Trust in Close Relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 49(1), 95-112. doi:10.1037//0022-3514.49.1.95
- Ripperger, T. (1998). Ökonomik des Vertrauens Analyse eines Organisationsprinzips. [Economics of Trust Analysis of an Organizational principle.] Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.
- Rolvsjord, R. (2010). *Resource-oriented music therapy in mental health care*. Gilsum, NH: Barcelona Publishers.
- Rolvsjord, R. (2016). Resource-Oriented Perspectives in Music Therapy. In J. Edwards (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Music Therapy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199639755.013.5
- Rompf, S. A. (2014). *Trust and Rationality: An Integrative Framework for Trust Research*. Weisbaden, Germany: Springer.
- Robinson, S. L. (1996). Trust and Breach of the Psychological Contract. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41(4), 574-599. doi:10.2307/2393868

- Rousseau, D. M., Sitkin, S. B., Burt, R. S. & Camerer, C. (1998). Not So Different after All: A Cross-Discipline View of Trust. *The Academy of Management Review*, 23(3), 393-404. doi:10.5465/AMR.1998.926617
- Rotter, J. B. (1967). A new scale for the measurement of interpersonal trust. *Journal of Personality*, *35*(4), 651-665. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.1967.tb01454.x
- Rotter, J. B. (1980). Interpersonal trust, trustworthiness, and gullibility. *American Psychologist*, *35*(1), 1-7. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.35.1.1
- Ruud, E. (1997). Musikk og identitet [Music and identity]. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Ruud, E. (1998). *Music therapy: improvisation, communication, and culture*. Gilsum, N.H: Barcelona Publishers.
- Ruud, E. (2010). *Music therapy: a perspective from the humanities*. Gilsum, N.H: Barcelona Publishers.
- Ruud, E. (2013). Can music serve as a "cultural immunogen"? An explorative study. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 8. doi:10.3402/qhw.v8i0.20597
- Rumelhart, D. E. (1980). Schemata: The Building Blocks of Social Cognition. In R. J. Spiro, B. C. Bruce & W. E. Brewer (Eds.), *Theoretical Issues in Reading Comprehension* (33-58). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Schul, Y., Mayo, R. & Burnstein, E. (2008). The value of distrust. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 44(5), 1293-1302. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2008.05.003
- Schunk, D. & Betsch, C. (2006). Explaining Heterogeneity Differences in Utility Functions by Individual Differences in Decision Modes. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, *27*(3), 386-401. doi:10.1016/j.joep.2005.08.003
- Schütz, A., & Luckmann, T. (1973). *The Structures of the Life World*. Evanston: North-western University Press.
- Schwandt, T.A. (2001). Dictionary of Qualitative Inquiry (2nd edition). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Schwartz, E. (2008). Music, Therapy and Early Childhood. Gilsum, N.H: Barcelona Publishers.
- Schwarz, N. (2009). Mental Construal in Social Judgment. In F. Strack & J. Förster (Eds.), *Social Cognition The Basis of Human Interaction* (121-138). New York, London: Psychology Press.
- Schwarz, N. & Clore, G. L. (1983). Mood, misattribution, and judgments of well-being: Informative and directive functions of affective states. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 45(3), 513-523. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.45.3.513

- Shapiro, S. P. (1987). The Social Control of Impersonal Trust. *American Journal of Sociology*, *93*(3), 623-658. doi:10.1086/228791
- Sherry, D. F. & Schacter, D. L. (1987). The evolution of multiple memory systems. *Psychological Review 94*(4), 439-454. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.94.4.439
- Shiv, B. & Fedorikhin, A. (2002). Spontaneous versus Controlled Influences of Stimulus-Based Affect on Choice Behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 87(2), 342-370. doi:10.1006/obhd.2001.2977
- Simmel, G. (1992). *Soziologie Untersuchungen über die Formen der Vergesellschaftung*. [Sociology Studies on the Forms of Socialization.] Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Skjervheim, H. (1996). *Deltakar og tilskodar og andre essays* [Participant and spectator and other essays]. Oslo: Aschehoug
- Smetana, M. (2017). Recurring similarity: the meaning of musical objects in music therapy for adolescents with structural disorders. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, 26(2), 105-123. doi:10.1080/08098131.2015.1117123
- Smith, E. R. & DeCoster, J. (2000). Dual-Process Models in Social and Cognitive Psychology:

 Conceptual Integration and Links to Underlying Memory Systems. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *4*(2), 108-131. doi:10.1207/S15327957PSPR0402 01
- Stanovich, K. E. (2004). *The Robot's Rebellion: Finding Meaning in the Age of Darwin*. Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- Stensæth, K., Krüger, V. & Fuglestad, S. (Eds.) (2016). *I transitt mellom til og fra, tekster om musikk og deltakelse i barnevern*. [In transit between to and from, texts about music and participation in child welfare.] Anthology published by Center for Research in Music and Health. Oslo: Norwegian Academy of Music.
- Stige, B. (2002). Culture-centered music therapy. Gilsum: Barcelona Publishers.
- Stige, B. (2005). Musikk som tilbud om deltakelse. [Music as an offer to participate.] In R. Säfvenbom (Ed.), *Fritidsaktiviteter i moderne oppvekst grunnbok i aktivitetsfag* (121-145). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Stige, B. (2006). On a Notion of Participation in Music Therapy. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, *15*(1), 121-138. doi:10.1080/08098130609478159
- Stige, B. (2016). Culture-Centered Music Therapy. In J. Edwards (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Music Therapy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199639755.013.1
- Stige, B., & Aarø, L. E. (2012). *Invitation to community music therapy*. New York: Routledge.

- Strandbu, A. (2011). *Barnets deltakelse hverdagslige og vanskelige beslutninger*. [The child's participation difficult and everyday decisions.] Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Strandbu, A., Krüger, V. & Lorentzen, M. (2016). Musikkteater som barneverntiltak [Music theatre as a child welfare measure]. In K. Stensæth, V. Krüger & S. Fuglestad (Eds.), *I transitt mellom til og fra: Om musikk og deltagelse i barnevern* (231-249). Anthology published by Center for Research in Music and Health. Oslo: Norwegian Academy of Music.
- Sztompka, P. (1999). Trust: A Sociological Theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Thomas, W. I. & Thomas, D. S (1928). *The child in America: Behavior problems and programs*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- United Nations (2009). *Rights of the child (CRC)*: Resolution adopted by the General Assembly, A/RES/64/146.
- Warming, H. (Ed.) (2013). Participation, Citizenship and Trust in Children's Lives. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Webb, N. (ed.) (2005). Working with Traumatized Youth in Child Welfare. New York: Guilford Publications.
- Wenger, E. (1998). *Communities of practice: learning, meaning, and identity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Wiles, J. & Humphreys, M. S. (1993). Using artificial neural nets to model implicit and explicit memory test performance. In P. Graf & M. E. J. Masson (Eds.), *Implicit memory: New directions in cognition, development, and neuropsychology* (141-165). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Williams, M. (2001). In Whom We Trust: Group Membership as an Affective Context for Trust Development. *The Academy of Management Review*, *26*(3), 377-396. doi:10.2307/259183
- Wimmer, A. (2002). Compromise and closure: a theory of social dynamics. In A. Wimmer (2002), Nationalist exclusion and ethnic conflict – shadows of modernity (19-41). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Winston, J. S., Strange, B. A., O'Doherty J., & Dolan R. J. (2002). Automatic and intentional brain responses during evaluation of trustworthiness of faces. *Nature Neuroscience*, *5*(3), 277-283. doi:10.1038/nn816
- Yamagishi, T., Kikuchi, M., & Kosugi, M. (1999). Trust, Gullibilty, and Social Intelligence. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology* 2(1), 145-161. doi:10.1111/1467-839X.00030
- Yamagishi, T. (2001). Trust as a Form of Social Intelligence. In K. S. Cook (Ed.), *Trust in Society* (121-147). New York: Russel Sage Foundation.

- Yamagishi, T. & Yamagishi, M. (1994). Trust and commitment in the United States and Japan. *Motivation and Emotion, 18*(2), 129-166. doi:10.1007/BF02249397
- Yap, A. J. & Tong. E. M. W. (2009). The Appraisal Rebound Effect: Cognitive Appraisals on the Rebound. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin Online*. doi:10.1177/0146167209338073